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1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report was commissioned and funded by the City of Rockingham with the aim of providing positive
direction for the conservation of the place known as the Chesterfield House, which is located on

Chesterfield Road, west of Mandurah Road in East Rockingham.

Chesterfield House is a domestic building, constructed of limestone and brick masonry with a corrugated
iron roof and mostly wooden floors. The house is partly gutted by fire, the north-western quarter having
sustained the greatest damage. The front of the house has a verandah flanked by two projecting bays
with half timbered gables and mullioned windows, the style of which is known as "Queen Anne Revival"
or, more commonly, "Federation". The core of the house, consisting of four rooms with a central
passage, has characteristics that are consistent with the local colonial vernacular manner of building.
The dairy associated with the place is located a distance of approximately 300 metres to the north of the

house, and is of similar construction as the house, but with concrete floors.

The history of Chesterfield House has been traced back to 1855 when James Herbert commenced
trading from premises known as the "Bush Inn", but it is not known whether this inn was located on the
present site of Chesterfield House or elsewhere, perhaps property owned by William Hymus who had
established an inn in the area two years previously. When the present site, Cockburn Sound Location
71, was surveyed in August 1857 it was noted that a building already stood on the property. Records
indicate that for all but a couple of years, the inn traded continuously until 1912 when the license was
transferred to the newly established Naval Base Hotel. A fire caused considerable damage to the place
circa 1910 and the place was rebuilt, incorporating the original masonry walls but also with additions onto
the north side of the building and with a different roof shape. The original building had a steeply pitched
roof with a loft, but it was rebuilt with two lower hipped roofs side by side. After 1912 the principal use of
the place was as a farmhouse. The Ward family acquired the place in 1932 and established it as a dairy
farm. A new dairy was constructed circa 1950, north of the house, and this building is one of the
elements discussed in this report. The Wards sold the place in 1967 and in the 1970s the government
resumed the property as part of its strategic planning for the area. Chesterfield House was vacant for
some time, but then it was tenanted out to an organisation which used the house as a youth refuge. In
1992 a fire damaged one of the bedrooms of the place, and the tenants were evicted. No repairs were
undertaken, and while the place remained vacant it became subject to acts of vandalism. Another fire, in
circa 1994, caused extensive damage to the roof and remaining internal timberwork. Because the fire

was concentrated in the roof, the masonry of the building is still in sound condition.

The conservation plan for Chesterfield House comprises two sections, the assessment of the place's
significance, and policies which form a conservation strategy for the place. The assessment of
significance is based on research into the history of the place and an investigation of the extant fabric,
which are evaluated to produce a succinct statement of the place's significance that conforms with
certain assessment standards adopted by the Heritage Council of Western Australia. It was found that

the place has cultural heritage significance for the following reasons:
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the place is among the earliest land grants in the Rockingham region, and the house is
one of the region's oldest built structures;

the house is the oldest commercial building in the municipality, and one of the few
remaining examples of a wayside inn established during the mid 19" century;

the place has social value for its association with a number of the district's pioneering
families and other individuals who were prominent in the early history of the district;

the place is among a number of sites in East Rockingham which provide tangible
evidence of the district's early history;

the architectural composition of the facade of Chesterfield House is considered to have
aesthetic merit;

the dairy is representative of a class of outbuildings commonly constructed in the East
Rockingham area in the mid 20" century using stone that was locally available. The
layout of the dairy is able to demonstrate aspects of the process of milking as this was
carried out in the 1950s through to the 1960s; and,

the stonework and other fabric of the dairy has acquired a patina from many years of
exposure to the elements, and in the context of a fallow field has aesthetic value for its
compositional and textural qualities.
Policies for the conservation of Chesterfield House are based on an understanding of the place's
significance as outlined above, and also the various constraints and opportunities that are recognised as
arising from the circumstances of its ownership, planning issues, the condition of the building, and
heritage considerations. Some of the issues addressed in the policy section are:

whether or not it would be acceptable to relocate the house and dairy, given that (1) the
place's history is closely interconnected with its context and that the presence of these
buildings assists in our understanding of the development of the area, (2) that the house
is a landmark in the area, and (3) that the nature of the house and dairy's construction is
fragile and these structures cannot be moved in their complete form;

what curtilage would be appropriate for the place, given the intended future
development of the surrounding land and the limited significance of the dairy;

what uses the house (and possibly the dairy) could be put to in order to make its
conservation financially viable;

what approach that should be taken to conserving the house and the dairy respectively,
given that much of the house's fabric is not original but illustrates the history of
occupation, and that the intrinsic significance of the dairy is limited;

what actions are required to maintain the existing fabric in a stable condition until such
time as a full program of conservation works are undertaken; and,

once the place is conserved, what maintenance should be undertaken in order to
minimise the deterioration of significant building fabric.
The thrust of the policies is to ensure that: the house (and if feasible also the dairy) is to be retained on
the present site while the surrounding land is developed for industry; the house is provided with a
suitable curtilage, ditto for the dairy in view of its possible conservation; the house be conserved in a
manner appropriate to the significance of its various parts; and that the place be adapted sympathetically

to allow its eventual re-use as an office for industry that will eventually be established on the site.

This conservation plan is intended to be the principal guiding document for determining how the place is
to be conserved. For a satisfactory outcome to be achieved, the Local Government and Landcorp will
need to endorse this conservation plan and cooperate with one another to ensure that the interests of

both landowner and community are fairly addressed.
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INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND
This conservation plan is an initiative of the City of Rockingham, funded by the same as part of its
commitment to ensuring the conservation of heritage places in the East Rockingham area. In outline, the

objectives of this conservation plan are to:

. assess the cultural heritage significance of Chesterfield House;

. determine the extent of that heritage significance;

. determine an appropriate curtilage for the place (ie: the conservation area);

. determine the nature and extent of any intrusive features within the conservation area;

. establish an appropriate conservation policy for the place, taking into account the specific

requirements of the owner for the future use of the site and other developments that will affect its
context, as well as the object to maintain and enhance the place's cultural value; and,

. provide practical recommendations for the future management and maintenance of the place.

STUDY AREA

This report deals with the place known as Chesterfield House (also referred to as the "Chesterfield Inn"),
located on Lot 2 Chesterfield Road (off Mandurah Road), East Rockingham. The place comprises a
substantial single storey building, built of rubble limestone and brick masonry walis with a corrugated iron
roof and mostly wooden floors. A substantial part of the building has been fire damaged. A former dairy

building, located on Lot 1 Chesterfield Road, is also the subject of this report.

STRUCTURE OF THE REPORT

This report is based on the Heritage Council of Western Australia's standard consuitant's brief for the
preparation of conservation plans. This standard has been devised in conjunction with the Department of
Contract and Management Services (CAMS), and is based on the methodology set out in James Semple
Kerr's The Conservation Plan (National Trust of Australia NSW 1980, revised 1996). The conservation
philosophy adopted for this report is based on the principles set out in the Australia ICOMOS Guidelines
o the Burra Charter: Conservation Policy (1985, revised 1988). The Heritage Council of Western
Australia’s criteria for entry into the Register of Heritage Places has been used to assess the cultural

significance of the place.

SOURCES OF STUDY INFORMATION

On-site investigation Department of Land Administration (DOLA)
Community consultation United Photo & Graphic Services

City of Rockingham The Australian Heritage Commission
Rockingham Historical Society The Heritage Council of Western Australia
Battye Library of Western Australian History The National Trust of Australia (W.A.)
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DOCUMENTARY AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE

Introduction

Documentary Evidence is a compilation of historical material relating to the place, with a specific
emphasis on material which provides an understanding of the development of the place's physical fabric.
Sources used in the preparation of this section include existing historical texts, newspapers, fand titles,
and photographic images. Information related verbally by local residents has also been used where the
aspects of the place's history have not previously been recorded. The Documentary Evidence section

and associated chronology have been prepared by Dr. Robyn Taylor, art and architectural historian.

History of Chesterfield House - An Overview

Documentary evidence suggests that the history of Chesterfield House can be dated back to the earliest
years of settlement in the East Rockingham district. The house, formerly known as the Chesterfield Inn,
is believed to incorporate remnants of the earlier Rockingham Arms which was renamed Chestertield nn
around the mid 1890s. The Rockingham Arms had functioned as a stopping point for travellers on the
road between Fremantle and Mandurah, a boarding house, a place of entertainment, and apparently a
popular destination for honeymooners. At various times it also operated as the district's Post Office. The
place was central to the life of Rockingham before the focus shifted to the beach and the growing pott of
Rockingham where alternative places for recreation were provided. The place was eventually delicenced
and the land used for grazing cattle. From the 1930s Chesterfield operated as a dairy, then a Youth
Hostel until the early 1990s.

in researching the history of Chesterfield House, and its former identities as the Chesterfield Inn, and the
Rockingham Arms, a number of discrepancies were found in government reports, various published
histories and memoirs, and recollections by those who had lived or passed through East Rockingham.
Many of the discrepancies regarding ownership of the place, in particular when it functioned as a
licensed Inn, may be due to a confusion between the selling and/or transferring of the publican’s licence
for the place, and the selling of the land on which the former Inn stood. Generally the land and property
belonged to only a few owners during its long history, while the licence was held successively by a
number of publicans, in some cases for only a year's duration. Also, a significant point of conjecture has
been whether the current Chesterfield House, or parts within it, can be dated back to the late 1850s
when the Rockingham Arms was built, or whether, following a fire, the Chesterfield Inn was rebuilt on a
different site around 1912. This latter assumption, which is also contained in the 'Heritage Report on
East Rockingham Settlement' by J. C. Keen, is not borne out by a valuer's report made in 1918 which
indicates the place was in a very decrepit state. This hardly seems feasible for a building which is
claimed to have existed for only six years. Adding to the beliet of two different Chesterfield Inns, are the
undocumented descriptions of the 'original' Inn having two-storeys, whereas there is no evidence to
suggest the current building ever supported another storey. However, there is physical evidence that the

original roof of the present building had a steeper pitch that could have supported an attic storey. As a
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consequence of these various accounts, the Keen report states that Chesterfield Inn, as one of the

original buildings in the East Rockingham Settlement, no longer exists.! Unfortunately, this has had the

effect of down-grading the historic significance of one of Rockingham's heritage places.

A Brief History of the Early Settlement of the East Rockingham District

The European history of East Rockingham dates back to the earliest days of the Swan River Colony
when the Peel Estate was established around the Cockburn Sound district. Thomas Peel, after whom
the Estate was named, was an English gentleman of means wanting to invest in the new colony.
Originally, Peel was eligible for a land grant of 250,000 acres on the southern side of the Swan River
because of his promise to bring several hundred settlers to the colony at no expense to the Imperial
government. However, one of the stipulations to secure such grants was that the settlers had to arrive
before the end of 1829. While Peel procrastinated in his departure from England, other settlers arriving
in the Colony were pressuring the government to release Peel's grant which covered some of the best
land in the Colony. Peel was given a deadline of November 1, 1829 to land his first settiers in order to
retain this grant.2 When he discovered, somewhat belatedly, how much sailing time was needed to
reach the Colony, he realised he would not make the deadline. He applied to have an extension of time
to the end of November but this was refused. When Peel and his first boat load of settiers finally arrived
in December of that year, Peel had to forfeit his entitlement. The colony's Governor Stirling then gave
Peel the option of choosing another 250,000 acres of land. This grant covered the district around
Cockburn Sound extending down to the Murray River and Peel Inlet where the town of Mandurah was

established. The northern part of this new grant lay within the original grant area.

By 1830 a small settlement called Clarence had been established by Peel at a spot south of Woodman's
Point. However, conditions were appalling and Peel proved woefully inept at managing the situation. A
number of settlers began to drift away from the town and settle elsewhere. Peel then dispatched a small
group of his settlers to the south of Clarence where the land was more fertile. This place was several
kilometres inland from where the third of his ships bearing settlers, the 'Rockingham', had been
wrecked.3 The homes they erected are believed to have been in the vicinity of East Rockingham,
although the exact location is not known. However, in a petition to Governor Stirling dated August 30,
1830, the settlers gave their place of abode as Rockingham Town.

We left England under the care of Mr Halliburton, master of the 'Rockingham’, agreeing
to work for Thomas Peel, Esq. as field labourers to receive three shillings per day to start
from the day of our landing; but we were sent by Mr Peel's orders about five miles South
West of Clarence to build our houses and to turn up as much land as we thought proper.
We have done this without receiving any pay or having any proper seeds to sow on the
land we have been labouring at ... and can get no satisfactory answer from Mr Peel LA

Keen, J.SC., "Heritage Report on East Rockingham Settlement', for City of Rockingham, Town of Kwinana, Landcorp, December
1992, p.5.

See Taggart, N., Rockingham Looks Back, Rockingham District Historical Society (Inc), 1984, pp.7-8, for a transcript of ‘Conditions
For Land Grants at Swan River Colonial Office December 5th, 1828.

Fag,2 V. (15 1Tliwe Sea and the Forest, A History of the Port of Rockingham Weslern Australia, University of Western Austratia Press,
1972, p.13-14.

Russell, L., Kwinana, "Third Time Lucky", 1979, p.32.
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Eventually these settiers also moved on and to date no trace of their early habitation in the Rockingham
district has been found.5 Some of these settlers moved to the Mandurah area where Peel had also

sefttled.

Overland tracks were eventually established linking up the settlements between Fremantle and
Mandurah. One particular track which passed through the Rockingham district went along the high
ground on the west of Lake Cooloongup. In later years a track on the east side of the lake came into
use, and evolved into what has become known as the Mandurah Road. This road was the "spine" along
which the East Rockingham settlement was to develop.® Meanwhile, Peel began to promote Safety Bay
(Liverpool as Peel named it), just south of Rockingham, as a potential harbour for exporting the thick
stands of timber which were growing in the hills to the east, and as a base for whalers.” In 1846 a
survey was undertaken by the Surveyor-General John Septimus Roe and the town of Liverpool mapped
out. However, this came to nothing. Roe had not been impressed by the locality but did report
favourably on Mangles Bay, which was not part of Peel's land holdings. The beach front at Mangles Bay
had the potential for safe anchorage for ships, and jetties could be built to handle timber exports. The
area was also 'close to the existing settlement of [East] Rockingham'.8 A future town was mapped out on
the waterfront with building lots and amenities, and 5 acre lots for timber yards for lease or purchase. On
June 3, 1847 the town of Rockingham was declared open for the sale of lots® However, it would be

many years before Rockingham would take on the semblance of a township.10

During the 1840s small land grants to the east of Peel's estate, were being taken up along the more
fertile inland areas where pockets of swamp ensured supplies of water and good grazing.
The belt of fertile swamp and woodland, sandwiched between the Point Peron-Safety
Bay limestone ridge to the west and the Baldivis sandhills to the east, was not extensive
enough to attract the interest of large-scale landowners, but was able to support a
number of small properties.!!
However, it appears the first families in the district did not settle there until the 1850s. William Mead's
family is believed to be the first, taking up ten acres in 1854, to be followed by Thorpe, Key, Broughton,
Hymus, Bell, Thomas, McDermott, Smirk and Herbert.12  Possibly one of the earliest buildings to be
constructed in the district was the Bush Inn which had been established by William Hymus in 1853, then
taken over by James Herbert in 1855. Many of the early homes, thought to be of predominantly wattle
and daub construction, were located along or in the vicinity of the Mandurah Road track.13 They were to

be replaced by more substantial masonry dwellings which still exist today, although some are little

ibid, Fall, op.cit, p.14. According to another publication (M. Uren, Land Looking West, The Story of Captain James Stirling in WA,
1948, p.130) at the time there were twelve families in the Mangles Bay area, about 400 people at Clarence, and twelve men and a
family at Murray River.

Palassis, K., et al, 'Lealholm, East Rockingham: Assessment of Significance', unpublished report for CALM, May 1998, p.6.
Taggar, op.cit, p.37.

Fall, op.cit, p.15.

ibid

Rockingham was declared a town on June 1, 1847. Russell, op.cit, p.35.

Palassis, report dated May 1998, op.cit p.7.

Taggart, op.cit, Chapter 4, 'The East Rockingham Settlement', pp.47-66.

ibid, p. 48.
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Figure 3.3 Portion of a map of East Rockingham which records land grants up to ¢.1870. A number of man-

made features are identified, including buildings on the school reserve and the inn on Location 71.
Source of original map not located.
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more than ruins. The families were on the whole large in number, for example the Bells had eight '
children, the Hymuses eleven, the Thorpes ten, and the Smirks thirteen. Two of the Hymus gitls who
married into the Smirk and Day families soon after coming to Rockingham had ten and fourteen
children.1 The number of children in the settlement justified the building of the East Rockingham
School. This was built in 1865 by James Bell, with assistance from the other parents, on the corner of
Wellard and Mandurah Roads.'® The school replaced earlier bush schools, or a school room set up in a
settler's house such as the one which operated for a short time in nearby Hymus cottage. The school
house has since been demolished. A tight-knit community developed in East Rockingham with the
children playing and going to school together, marrying into each other's families, and growing into
responsible and worthy citizens.

During this time the townsite of Rockingham, situated on the beach front of Mangles Bay, had not really
developed to any extent. The town jetty fargely serviced the shipping trade, visiting whalers and timber
haulers who brought in their timber from the hinterland. However, with the rapid expansion of the
sandalwood and jarrah trades, which resulted in the opening of the Jarrahdale mill in 1872 and the
construction of a railway between Jarrahdale and the port, the town eventually became more attractive to
settlers who could establish businesses there. For example, around 1886 James (Jnr) Bell had
purchased property on the beach front and built the Port Hotel in Kent Street where he worked as the
publican. He sold this to his sister Fanny and her husband Daniel Hymus in 1895, and built a home
'Ocean View' and a thriving general store on the beach front.1® The store serviced the ships coming to
the port with fresh meat and produce brought in from the hinterland farms.

In 1897, Rockingham's development enabled the setting up of a Roads Board to service the district. Most
of the established families were represented on the Board with the first members being John and James
(inr) Bell, Daniel Hymus, William Day, George Mead, John Thorpe and Charles Parkin. Meetings were
held at various locations untii a Roads Board office was built on the corner of Mandurah and Office
Roads in 1905/06.17

James Herbert - the Bush Inn, and the Rockingham Arms, ¢.1857 - ¢.1895
In 1853 W. Hymus, presumably Wiliam Hymus, was granted a 'free' licence for a Bush Inn in
Rockingham.8

Travellers on the Southern line Road between Fremantle and Bunbury will be glad to
learn that a Publican's Licence has been granted to W. Hymus for a house of
entertainment about 15 miles from the former town.1?

Apparently the establishment of an early Bush Inn had been planned by William's father Frederick

Hymus.
It was his aim to build and conduct a "roadside house" at Rockingham, and being of good
Quaker stock, no intoxicating liquor was to be allowed. The place was built but he did not

14
15
16
17
18

19

ibid, p.85, and family trees at the back of the publication.

Russell, op.cit, p.80. The school was demolished in 1966.

Regehr, M., 'The Bells of Rockingham', unpublished manuscript, 1998, p. 84.

Davies, M., letter to the City of Rockingham (in relation to the review of this document), 27/09/1999.

A number of Inns were erected throughout the Swan River Colony along routes used by travellers. A 'free' licence appears to have
been issued to publicans whose premises were in isolated locations. By 1857, there were a number of settlers in the East
Rockingham district, which may have been a reason why Herbert needed to apply for a regular licence.

The Independent Journal, 4/111/1853, quoted in Russell, op.cit, p.39.
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Figure 3.4  Portion of a cancelled public plan containing entries up to the mid 1950s. The inn is

one of the few buildings shown, and is identified as "Old Chesterfield Inn (now Private House)".
Copy held by Rockingham Historical Society

The Bush Inn, Rockingham, as sketched by Frederick Mackie in 1855.
Diary of Frederick Mackie

Figure 3.5
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live to carry out his plan, and his son had other ideas about liquor and this was the first
hotel in Rockingham.?°

Exactly where the Bush Inn was located has not been established, however, it would be doubtful that
Hymus had built the Bush Inn on Cockburn Sound Location 44 which he later acquired in 1855. This
location appears to be too far west of the tracks indicated on early maps for the district.2! In 1855, the
free licence' for the Bush Inn was transferred to James Herbert. A reference to this can be found in the
Colonial Secretary's correspondence where, in 1855, Christopher Armstrong is recorded as applying for
a free publican's licence for his premises in Mandurah, and being refused.

There was no other licensed publican in Mandurah at the time, and Armstrong argued
that if Herbert's Bush Inn at Rockingham could have a free licence he should not be
denied a similar permit. He was informed that, as his premises were within a townsite this
could not be issued, but the amount would be reduced to £5.22

At the time James Herbert took over the 'free' licence for the Bush Inn the place was truly isolated. The
fledging settiement at East Rockingham had hardly begun. A sense of this isolation and the conditions in
which the early settlers lived is conveyed in the diary entry of the Quaker Frederick Mackie while
travelling from Fremantle to Australind during February, 1855. Mackie was on his way to visit his friend
Marshall Waller Clifton and records; 'The road exceedingly sandy leading along the coast through a very
poor district, very little or no herbage for sheep or cattle. The ground is covered in low scrub, which to a
botanist is interesting.'> After a lengthy discourse on the flora of the area he wrote, 'We were
comfortably accommodated at the 'Bush Inn'2* This was accompanied with a sketch of the Inn in a
landscape dotted with the Zanthorrhaea, or Grass trees, he had described in such detail in his diary. The
Bush Inn is depicted as two single single-storey structures, one behind the other, with high pitched roofs.

Perhaps not surprisingly more detailed attention was given to the rendering of the grass trees.

James Herbert Snr (1820-1875) arrived in Western Australia in April 1853 via the 'Palestine’ with his
second wife Mary and family of three children, James Jnr and daughters Helen and Elizabeth. It
appears he was either, or both, a baker and a wheelwright by trade in England before he became a
publican in Western Australia®® Following on from his experience at the Bush Inn, in 1857, Herbert
acquired Location 71 and established the Rockingham Arms on what is now called Chesterfield Road.2®
This road ran east to west linking what became Mandurah Road with the future town of Rockingham. An
amended survey map for Cockburn Sound, dating from the time of James Herbert's land grant, indicates

a building on Location 71 on or very near the site of the current Chesterfield House.?” This lends

24
25
26

27

“The Memories of Mrs Phoebe Christie' in Royal WA Historical Society Journal, Vol. IV, Part 2, 1950, p.74.
Cancelled public plan. Cockburn Sound and Murray, Cons. 4918, ltem 2, Serial No.506 235. State Records Office.

Colonial Secretary to D.S. Murray, 21/2/1856, CSF.40, No.856. This reference is cited in Richards, R., The Murray District of
Western Australia: A History, Shire of Murray, 1978, p. 293-4.

Nicholls, Mary (ed.) Traveller under Concern: The Quaker Journals of Frederick Mackie on his tour of Australasian Colonies 1852-
5, University of Tasmania, Hobart, 1973, p.267. The diary entry is dated February 20,1855. Mackie notes the distance of the
Bush Inn from Fremantle was about 14 miles.

ibid, p.268.
Dictionary of Western Australians, 1829-1914, Vol. 3, 'Free - 1850-1868', ed. R. Erickson, UWA Press, 1979, p.385.

Durant, W., 'The Inr', unpublished history, 1996, p.4. Copy of legal document for 10 acres on Location 71, dated November 9,
1857. DOLA Deeds Office.

Map with amendments titied 'Cockburmn Sound Locations, Rockingham, 1842-53, 21'. A photocopy of this map is held at the
Rockingham Historical Society Museum.
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Figure 3.6 lllustrations of bottles used for the aerated waters manufactured by James A. Herbert.
The Little Bottier Vol.12 No.1
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credence to the belief that Chesterfield House is located on the former Rockingham Arms site. Herbert's
publican's licence was granted in January 1857, so it is possible that the Rockingham Arms had been

built on the site before the land was formally granted.?®

Herbert evidently ran a fine establishment. In 1866, a glowing report about the Rockingham Arms was

written up in February issue of The Anglican Magazine:

It is seldom ones lot in this colony to find a country district where there is a Roadside Inn,

and where at the same time such quietness and peace prevail. A good deal of this

humanly speaking is due to the good example set by Mr Herbert Jnr occupier of the

'Rockingham Arms', who most assuredly must earn the testimony of every traveller to the

highly respectable way in which his house is conducted. it would be added that he will

make no charge to _the Chagglain or Reverend Johnson's visits when they ride down to

hold service at Rockingham.
According to Nora Taggart in her history of Rockingham, Herbert's Rockingham Arms was 'a two-storey
building, partly of wood and partly of Rockingham stone'® However, as suggested above, it is possible
that the second-storey was in fact an attic roof similar in construction to another 'wayside' inn, the
Mahogany Inn on the Great Eastern Highway. This inn, part of which was initially the local military
barracks, dates from 1839, with additions in 1847-48. Of particular interest is the construction of the
Mahogany inn with its parapet wall. Although much earlier in construction, this is somewhat similar in
design to James Bell's house 'Woodbine' on the other side of Mandurah Road. It is believed that Bell,
who moved into East Rockingham in ¢.1854-55 and built his second home 'Woodbine' in 1868, may
have built the Rockingham Arms using local limestone quarried on site.3! There would have much social
and neighbourly interaction between the settlers in the area and the Rockingham Arms. Apart from the
usual visits to share a pint and exchange gossip, or perhaps selling fresh meat and vegetables for the
kitchen, it would appear some settlers had also worked as publicans at the Rockingham Arms. James
Bell is noted as keeping a hotel in 1863,32 and Daniel Hymus, William Hymus's nephew, is recorded as a
publican on his marriage certificate in 1867. Rockingham Arms is believed to have been the only
licensed premise in the district, so it can be assumed that some of the farmers earnt extra income by
working at the hotel for varying periods of time. These dates also accord with information that from about
1862, the Herberts, father and son, began to operate other licensed premises in the Colony. In 1862,
when James Herbert Jnr turned 21 years, he became the licensee of the Rockingham Arms, while
James Herbert Snr operated the Stirling Arms in Guildford from 1862-1865, then the Freemasons in
Fremantle in 186633 Between 1864 and 1867, James Herbert Jnr also served as the district's first

postmaster.34

REBYLEEB

Durant, op.cit, p. 4. Durant states the licence was granted by the Colonial Secretary, Fred(erick) P. Barlee on January 31st, 1857.
ibid, p 8.

Taggar, op.cit., p. 57.

National Trust files for Chesterfield Inn.

Hammond, J. E., Western Pionsers, Imperial Publishing Co.Ltd., 1936, reprinted 1993 by Hesperian Press, p.12.

'‘James A. Herbert: Aerated Water Manufacturer', in The Little Bottler, Vol.12, No.1., p.7.

Draper, Rockingham: The Visions Unfold, City of Rockingham, 1997, p.66.
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Figure3.7 Photograph of several East Rockingham identities, ¢.1902, with what is believed to

be the original Chesterfield Inn in the background. Rockingham Historical Society

Figure 3.8  Photograph of Chesterfield House taken in the 1930s. Rockingham Historical Society
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The Herberts were evidently prospering through their hotel trading. In 1867, James Herbert acquired 40 A
acres of land at Location 130 which adjoins Location 71. In that same year, the licence for the
Rockingham Arms and Location 130 were apparently purchased by William Rewell for £250 while
Herbert bought Lot 17 St Georges Terrace from Rewell.35 The following year, in 1867, Herbert acquired
Cockburn Sound Locations 17 and 18 from Marshall McDermott and extended the cottage known as
Wheatfields that McDermott had built on the property. Herbert also bought several Lots in Fremantle.36

In 1870 the licence for the Rockingham Arms was fransferred to Andrew Seubert, then to Willlam
Summers in 1874. Summer's daughter Mary could claim her part in one of the more colourful sagas in
the Colony's history when on April 16, 1876 she was asked by the escaping Irish Fenians the way to
Rockingham Beach.3” The prisoners had escaped from Fremantle Gaol and elaborate plans had been
made for them to travel south by wagon and horses to a waiting boat that would take them out to the ship
'Catalpa’. Their flight was witnessed by James Bell who alerted the authorities in Fremantle.

During these years James Herbert Snr's interests expanded to include coastal shipping and the building
of the brig, the 'Mary Herbert'. Herbert was to disappear on the brig when it went down on its maiden
voyage in 1875. Following this tragedy, James Herbert Jnr moved to Fremantle,38 where he became
renowned for his manufacturing of Aerated Waters which were sold from the Freemason's Hotel in
Fremantle.3®

Apparently John and Alexander Forrest were friends of the Herberts and 'were frequent visitors to the
Rockingham Arms'. %% In her history of Rockingham, Nora Taggart provides a delightful impression of
what it must have been like for visitors staying at the inn during the 1870s.

By this time, the inn had acquired quite a reputation in Perth and Fremantle as a good
place to spend a honeymoon. It was also convenient for the hunters, fishers and duck
shooters who came there for a weekend's sport, and for travellers on the Mandurah-
Bunbury Road. John Forrest, probably with memories of his earlier visits to the inn in
1870 when he had resurveyed the port, came there with his bride, Margaret Hammersley,
to enjoy tree shaded walks and rides and rambles in the fertile farming area, and visits to
the timber jetty and sparkling white beaches of the port.41

3.1.5 John Chester and Chesterfield Inn, ¢.1895 — 1929
in 1876, the Rockingham Arms was sold by William Summers to John Chester. On the 1877 application
to bring Locations 71 and 130 under the Transfer of Land Act, Chester is described as a Yeoman of
Fremantie.2 Apparently he 'owned a butcher shop in High Street Fremantle and a large slaughter yard
at Chester Park (now Hilton Park).'*3 Possibly during the mid 1890s, Chester changed the name of the
Rockingham Arms to Chesterfield Inn. ltis believed the change was made to avoid confusion with an inn

i Durant, op.cit., p. 10. It would appear Herbert kept ownership of Location 71 and also the Rockingham Arms.
ibid, p.8.

37 ibid p.12.

38 ibid, p.10.

39 See advertisements in Durant, and The Little Bottler, op.cit.

40 Durant, op.cit., p.8.

4 Taggan, op.cit, p.77.

ﬁ Certificate of Title, Vol.}l, Fol.205, dated 27/?/1877. John Chester is referred to as a Yeoman of Fremantle.

Durant, op.cit., p.13.
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Figure 3.9 Aerial photograph of the site, taken in 1942
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established by William Day in East Rockingham which he had named the Rockingham Inn. Apparently
this inn was not particularly successful and operated for a comparatively short time.#* This is hardly
surprising as the inn would have been competing not only with the more established Chesterfield Inn but
also the Port Hotel on the beach which had been established by James Bell. The Port Hotel would have
been drawing custom away from Chesterfield as well.

In 1890 the land title for Location 71 was transferred to Chester's daughters Caroline (Lina) and Eliza,
then following Eliza's death in 1891, to Lina's as sole owner. Following Mrs Chester death, then Lina's
marriage to Henry Verry in 1908, John Chester returned to Fremantle to live. Various lessees were to
operate Chesterfield Inn; David and Susan Whyte (c.1896),%5 Charles McMullen (1902), 46 the Newmans
(1904), 47 then the Cotteralls in 1905.4 It was apparently during the Cotteralls' tenancy, possibly
around 1910-11, that a fire broke out at the Inn and partially destroyed the roof.42 The place was
restored and in 1912, the lease was taken over by Ernest and Selina (nee Hymus) Huxtable.®® In that
year two Fremantle based stock salesmen, William M. Brogan and William T. Matthew, purchased the
property, including Locations 71 and 130, as tenants in common.5! Apparently they needed to have land
to graze their cattle, 'as their yards in Fremantle were declared contaminated by the Council.'®2 Brogan
and Matthew transferred the licence from Chesterfield Inn to another hotel they built at what was to be
the Henderson Naval Base. The Huxtables were then transferred to the Naval Base Hotel, however the
planned Naval Base did not eventuate at that location.%3

For a short time Chesterfield Inn appears to have been given another lease of life. A popular Racing
Club was established by Brogan and Matthew, and new tenants were installed. Henry Day was
employed as a stockman, and his wife worked as the postmistress. It is believed the Post Office
operated at Chesterfield from 1915 to 19183 During these years, the lands around Chesterfield Inn
were apparently used as an encampment for the 10th Light Horse.5 However, it would appear the place
was becoming increasingly run down and unprofitable, and the Rockingham area generally was
becoming economically depressed. When Matthew died in 1918, a valuation of Chesterfield Inn was
made which described the place as follows:

The building consists of an eight room brick and stone house, lathe and plaster lined
walls and ceilings with one additional weatherboard room in the back verandah. The
general finish of the building is rough and condition very worn and defective, requiring
renovation at such an excessive cost as the possible revenue to be secured would not be
justified.  There is no possible trade available for such a building in this situation and as

RLBRILE 8&5L&5&R

ibid, p.18.

This date is given in Taggart, op.cit, p.115.

Certificate of Title, Vol.ll, Fol.205, Encumbrances. D Reg'd 13/5/1902.
Certificate of Title, Vol.ll, Fol.205, Encumbrances. OReg'd 7/1/1904.
Certificate of Title, Vol.ll, Fol.205, Encumbrances. OReg'd 3/8/1905.

Taggart, op.cit, P.1 16. Durant op.cit, p.16. In her research on the history of Chesterfield Inn, Durant could not find any references
to the fire in the local newspapers or other possible sources.

Certificate of Title, Vol.li, Fol.205, Encumbrances. OReg'd 8/6/1911.

Certificate of Title, Vol.5183, Fol.177 for Cockburn Sound Locations 71 and 130, dated 1/10/1912.
Durant, op.cit., p.15.

ibid p.15.

Draper, op.cit, p.66.

Undated letter from Jan Robinson, a Ward descendant, to Wendy Durant.
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Figure 3.10 Photograph of Chesterfield House taken circa 1971. National Trust of Australia (WA)

Figure 3.11 Photograph of Chesterfield House taken circa 1971.

National Trust of Australia (WA)
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the timber trade has been withdrawn from Rockingham to Bunbury no hope of any
revival. The property therefore is an unsaleable proposition and has been on the market
for sale for a considerable time at a price far below the costs of improvements. There are
on the property some old roughly constructed small sheds with old galvanized iron, a
well, old windmill in defective order and condition and old tanks none of which are of
great value. | value the Property as follows:

Land £250
Fencing £65
Outbuilding £20
Building £525
£860

JOHN J HIGHAM - Sworn Valuator, Fremantle, 16th July, 1918. %

The next tenants to occupy Chesterfield Inn from 1923 to ¢.1929 were Helena and William McCormick.
Helena was a member of the Sloan family, and William worked as Group Foreman for Peel Group 68
that had been established under the State Government's Group Settlement Scheme. Fortunately William
had skills as a builder and much needed repair work was undertaken to the place.5” A photograph taken
of the Chesterfield Inn in 1925 reveals the generally poor state of the building. The photograph also
shows what appear to be railway sleepers being used to pave the area outside the verandah.® The

sleepers probably became more readily available with the closing down of the timber industry.

In 1929, George Ramsay became the sole proprietor of 159 acres at Cockburn Sound Locations 71, and
parts of 130 and 220. On the Certificate of Title, Ramsay is identified as a farmer of the Chesterfield
Hotel, which suggests he may have been a tenant before formally acquiring the property. %9 In 1932, the
Certificate of Title for Location 71, and parts of 130 and 220 was transferred to Phillip Ward.® Phillip
and Sara Ward established Chesterfield Inn as their family home, while the property was developed as a
dairy. Improvements and additions were made to the property:

...they built a new kitchen at the rear of the building, a new bathroom and a closet toilet.
The stables were also moved because of the dampness of the swamp affecting the cows'
hooves. They built the new dairy with the stone from the old stable and the iron and
timber from an old deserted settlers' hut.5!

Various Ward family members who had lived at Chesterfield Inn remember particular aspects of the
place. For example Phillip Ward's twin sons, Robert and Phillip, and grand-daughter Jan Robinson.

Bob recalls a cellar beneath the bar area of the building, and that they were very
disappointed when their father filled it in to stop them playing in there. They also recalled
that the race track that Brogan and Matthew built for their Race Club was still there and
two wells on the property. One was at the rear of the building, this they were told was
dug by the first settlers and the other on Chesterfield land opposite Hymus Cottage, we
assume was dug when Caroline (nee Chester) and Harry Verry built their first house in
that area. Jan Robinson ... who was born at Chesterfield as was her mother, recalls that
they had a ghost in the first room on the left as you enter the passage, it was possibly
female and caused no problems.62

BBBLS

Durant, op.cit., p.16.

ibid p.17.

The photograph is reproduced in Russell, op.cit, p.41.
Certificate of Title, Vo!.1008, Fol.49, registered 18/2/1929.
Certificate of Title, Vol.1008, Fol.49, registered 21/6/1932.
Durant, op.cit., p.17.

ibid, p.17.
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Figure 3.12 Aerial photograph of the property, taken in 1972, DOLA
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During the late 1940s or early 1950s the sons Phillip and Robert Ward built a new dairy house on
Location 130. The original dairy had been behind the house near the swamp. According to Jan
Robinson, the materials used to build the dairy had been taken from other structures on the Peel
Estate.83 According to Frank Churcher who operated a milk run in the district until about 1955, the

dairy,

... was one of the best dairy buildings in the area because it was the newest - when it was

built... all the other dairies were 15 to 20 years older. It was equipped for milking by

machine from the outset (others had started out hand milking). By the time Ward built

this dairy he would have been milking around the same number of cows as Stokes, but

Stokes was established much earlier and was considered to be one of the best dairies in

the area 8
in 1967, the Wards sold the property, possibly to the Chesterfield Investment and Development
Company.85 However, it continued to operate as a daity by Mr and Mrs Ingram who are mentioned as
living at Chesterfield Inn in 1976.66 Apparently the Wards sold the dairy because of concern about
industrial development in the area and the affect this may have on the milk.” However, according to
Churcher, a number of small dairies were closing down when bulk tankers were introduced to collect milk
on a once a day basis. 'This meant that dairies had to upgrade their plant, requiring a refrigerated tank.'
Other factors included 'the spread of T.B. which accounted for the loss of whole herds, and the

resumption of land by the Crown'. %8

Some of the tracts of land being resumed by the Crown in the East Rockingham district contained early
settlers cottages which were now under threat of demolition. This situation led to action being taken by
the local community, in particular members of the Rockingham and Districts Branch of the Royal WA
Historical Society, to save the district's early buildings. These buildings, including Chesterfield Inn, were
submitted to the National Trust of Australia (WA) for classification in 1970. Chesterfield Inn was noted as
being 'well preserved' at the time, and was given a 'C’ listing.89 In response to a request by the National
Trust to the Rockingham Shire Council for a list of historic buildings in the district, the local Historical
Society singled out 'Chesterfield Inn, the Day Cottage, and the whole Museum building' as ‘the three
most worth preserving'7% The Museum Building, situated on the Rockingham beachfront, contained the

house and shop built by James Bell.

&R

3883 8

Robinson, op.cit
Churcher, F., conversation with lan Boersma, recorded in facsimile to Robyn Taylor dated 5/7/99.

Ward, P., conversation with Robyn Taylor, 10/7/1999. Mr Ward was not certain about the name of the company which took over
the property, however this name is referred to in a letter dated 25/5/1976 from Nora Taggart to the Shire Clerk of Rockingham. The
Chesterfield Investment and Development Company Pty Ltd appears on the Certificate of Title for Location 71, dated 22/11/1979.

Le%er from Nora Taggart to the Shire Clerk of Rockingham, dated 25/5/1976. National Trust Files for Rockingham. Durant, op.cit.,
p.18.

Durant, op.cit., pp.17-18.

Churcher, op.cit

National Trust assessment form submitted by Nora Taggart, 25/7/1970.

Letter from Nora Taggart (Hon. Secretary) to The Shire Clerk, dated 14/5/1976. National Trust files for Rockingham.
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Figure 3.13 Sketch of Chesterfield House by Ross Shardlow, mid 1970s. Ross Shardlow
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Figure3.14 Sketch of the dairy by Ross Shardlow, mid 1970s. Ross Shardlow
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Chesterfield House - ¢. 1979 to present

It would appear Chesterfield Inn had been vacant for a time when Mr Ramsay, a minister of the church,
and his wife set up a Youth Hostel there! After the Ramsays left, this facility was continued by
Rockingham Council. The place was now referred to as Chesterfield House.”? During this time, 1981-2,
alterations and improvements were made to the place, and a replacement garage built.”3 The owner of
the property is listed on the application forms as Cleve Wollaston Hassell. Hassell's name appears on
the 1979 Certificates of Title for part Locations 130 and 220. It would appear he was also a partner of
Chesterfield Investments and Development Co. Pty. Ltd. which held the Title for Location 71. During the
1980s, the place was sold to the Industrial Lands Development Authority as part of the proposed East
Rockingham heavy industry park. The company sought advice about Chesterfield House's heritage
status from the National Trust, and was advised 'the building is not included in our register of classified
buildings and there are no plans to re-assess it', however the Trust added that it would prefer the place

'to be retained and upkeep assured, as part of whatever development is finally approved in this area.”4

In 1992, a fire broke out in one of the rooms at Chesterfield House, and although the tenants were
apparently not responsible, they were evicted and the place was closed down.” The property was now
owned by Landcorp and in 1994 there were plans to demolish Chesterfield House to make way for a
Compact Steel mill.7?® As a consequence of community concern, voiced in particular by the Friends of
Chesterfield Inn and the Conservation of Rockingham Kwinana Environment (CORKE) group,! and
further research undertaken by Mrs Wendy Durant (a member of CORKE and the Rockingham Historical
Society), the National Trust made a Section 9 referral to the Heritage Council of WA.77 An inspection of
the place was made by an officer of the Heritage Council who reported, 'The building structure appears

sound, no evidence of structural damage or sagging, and is considered recoverable'.”8

Over the years, the settlers' homes and buildings representing East Rockingham's history of early
settlement have caught the imagination of many amateur, and professional artists such as Mike
Garwood, Henry McLaughlin, Ross Shardlow and Malcolm Lindsay. Ross Shardlow's finely executed
studies of Chesterfield House and dairy, sketched during the mid 1970s, are not only evocative of the
place and its past, but also provide a valuable record of some for the structures on the site that no longer
exist. Considerable regret has been expressed by the artists contacted that these places have been
allowed to deteriorate to the extent they have.”® Apparently these remnants of Rockingham's history are

regarded with much affection by the community with many requests for paintings and sketches.80

71
72
73
74
75
76

78
79

Durant, op.cit., p.18.

ibid, p.18

Building application forms dated 1/10/1981 and 29/4/82. Rockingham Shire Council records.

Letter from the National Trust to the ILDA, dated 2/7/1982. National Trust files for Rockingham.

Durant, op.cit., p.18

'Chesterfield doomed' in The Sound Telegraph, 8/6/1994.

Letter to the Heritage Council from the National Trust dated 10/6/1994. National Trust files.

Facsimile from HCWA to National Trust, dated 23/6/1994. National Trust files.

Telephone conversations with Henry McLaughtin, Ross Shardlow and Malcolm Lindsay, March 1999.

Meyers, P., conversation with lan Boersma 256/03/1999. Poppy Meyers, an art dealer, has sold works by the above named artists,
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Figure 3.15 Aerial photograph of the property, taken in 1987.
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3.1.7 Chronology of Major Events
1853 A publican's licence is granted to W. Hymus and a Bush Inn erected in Rockingham.
1855 James Herbert applies for, and is granted, a 'free licence' for the Bush Inn.

1857 Herbert purchases 10 acres at Cockburn Sound Location 71. The Rockingham Arms is located

on this property.

1862 James A. Herbert Jnr becomes the licensee for the Rockingham Arms. Herbert Snr becomes
licensee of the Stirling Arms in Guildford, from 1862-1865, then the Freemasons in Fremantie in
1866.

1864-67 The district's Post Office operates from the Rockingham Arms.
1867 William Rewell buys the Rockingham Arms and Lot 130.
1874  William H. Summers buys the Rockingham Arms, and operates it until 1878,

1875 James Herbert Snr disappears along with the 'Mary Herbert' brig on its return voyage. James

Herbert Jnr moves to Fremantle.
1876  John Forrest and Margaret (Hamersley) honeymoon at the Rockingham Arms.
1876 John Chester buys the Rockingham Arms from William Summers.
1890s Chester changes the name to Chesterfield Inn.
¢1910-12 Fire at the Chesterfield Inn.

1912 Chesterfield Inn bought by William Brogan and William Matthew. The Inn is delicenced. A Race
Club is established. The Post Office is believed to have operates at the Innfrom 1915-18.

1923 Helena and William McCormick occupy Chesterfield Inn. Repairs are undertaken.
1929 Chesterfield Inn is bought by George Ramsay.

1932  Phillip Ward becomes the registered owner of Chesterfield Inn.

¢.1950 Ward's sons, Phillip and Robert, build the dairy house.

1967 Chesterfield Inn and dairy is sold to the Chesterfield Investment and Development Company.
The property continues to be used as a dairy farm by Mr Ingram until the late 1970s.

1970 Chestertfield Inn is recommended to the National Trust for classification. It is given a 'C' listing.
¢.1979 Building vacant for a time then converted into a Youth Hostel called Chesterfield House.

1981-2 Additions and alterations made to Chesterfield House.
The property is acquired by the Industrial Lands Development Authority.

1992 Fire damages the building. The tenants are evicted.

1994  Landcorp the current owner. Plans to demolish Chesterfield House to make way for a steel mill.

Public protests, and the National Trust refers the place to the Heritage Council of WA.

Fire causes further damage to Chesterfield House.
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Figure3.16 East gable of the north (front) elevation. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998

Figure3.17 West gable of the north (front) elevation. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998
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PHYSICAL EVIDENCE

Introduction
This section provides a description of the building and site features that are considered to be part of the
place's significant fabric. Descriptive material relating to the context is also provided. The material

presented in this section is based on inspections of the place in September 1998 and January 1999.

General Description of the Site and its Context

Chesterfield House is a domestic building, constructed of masonry with a corrugated iron roof and mostly
wooden floors. The house is partly gutted by fire, the north-western quarter having sustained the
greatest damage. The front of the house has a verandah flanked by two projecting bays with half
timbered gables and mullioned windows, the style of which is commonly referred to as "Queen Anne
Revival' or, more commonly, "Federation". The core of the house, consisting of four rooms with a central
passage, has characteristics that are consistent with the local colonial vernacular manner of building.
There is an outhouse containing a W.C. behind the building, and some distance north is an old dairy

building constructed of masonry with a corrugated iron roof and concrete floors.

The house is situated near the northern boundary of Lot 2 Chesterfield Road, a square lot of 4.1262
hectares (10 acres). Chesterfield Road is an unsealed track stemming from and perpendicular to
Mandurah Road. A narrow neck of land (Pt. Loc. 130), approximately 60 metres wide, separates Lot 2
from the western side of Mandurah Road. It is apparent that the land associated with the house in recent
years was more extensive than Lot 2, including land north of Chesterfield Road (Lot 1 and Pt. Loc.220)
as well as land on the west, south and east of Lot 2 (Parts of Locations 220 and 130). The Mandurah
Road frontage of the property extends for more than 1 kilometre.

There are several other places of cultural heritage significance in the immediate vicinity of Chesterfield
House. Some 350 metres away from the house, in a north-easterly direction, is a ruined cottage known
as Woodbine (c.1868). This place is due east of the old dairy, with approximately 300 metres separation.
Some 300 metres north of Woodbine is Hymus House (c.1915). Located opposite Hymus House, near
Mandurah Road, is an old mulberry tree. 500 metres south of Chesterfield House, on the intersection of
Day Road, is the site of a house built in 1928 and occupied for many years by Sam Chalwell.

The topography of the Lots 1 and 2 is relatively level, the rise and fall of the land is not particularly
noticeable. A slight depression extends diagonally from the north-east corner to the south-west corner of
Lot 2, and the land rises slightly towards Mandurah Road. Soil on the property is a loose sand with biack
organic content. Most of the site consists of cleared pasture, with a scattering of remnant fuart trees,
mainly near fence lines. A considerable portion of Lot 1 is uncleared, in the north-west corner, and the
western edge of the property is relatively heavily wooded. Native bushland adjoins the property on the
west, areas of which possess considerable beauty. Chesterfield Road is a point of access to this
bushiand and, unfortunately, considerable degradation has resulted from the presence of recreational
motor vehicle activity in this area. Rubbish has also been dumped in this bushland, including many

motor vehicle wrecks.
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Figure3.18 Chesterfield House, view of the north and west elevations.  Palassis Architects 15.09.1998

Figure 3.19 Chesterfield House, view of the south and east elevations.  Palassis Architects 16.09.1998
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Description of the House

Chestetfield House is a building that has evidently developed from successive additions to a core of four
rooms and central passage. There are additions to the front, sides, and rear of this core part. The
construction details of these sections differ and their specific characteristics provide some indication of
their age. In plan, the building forms a square with verandah recesses middle of the north (front), east

and west sides.

Externally, the house is rendered with a buff coloured cement based mortar. The walls of the house are
mainly constructed of rubble limestone, but where the render has crumbled away from around the
window at the west end of the facade brickwork is revealed. The toilet outhouse at the rear of the
building is constructed of brick, rendered to match the rest of the place. Brick has also been employed

for the construction of the five chimney stacks that project above the roof line.

The roof is clad with corrugated iron, with a framed structure of hardwood. Over the core part of the
house the roof is composed of twin pitches with a central box gutter over the passage, these roofs
connecting into a transverse hipped roof over the principal front room. The two rooms projecting out the
front of the building are hipped with a gable front, and between these is a skillion verandah which is a
continuation of the transverse roof. In elevation the verandah is divided into three bays by plain timber
posts and a gently arched valance. None of the timberwork of the verandah appears to have suffered
from fire damage. The gables over the rooms flanking the verandah are half timbered with rough cast
stucco work on wire mesh between the framing. Rooms at the rear and sides of the core are roofed with
skillions of a shallower pitch than the main roof. Little remains of the roof in the north-west quarter of the
building. Roof timbers in the north-east quarter are charred, but continue to support the roof. The roof in
the south-west corner of the building has also gone totally, but the south-east quarter is relatively

undamaged.

In examining the plan form of the building, it was noted that the core rooms have external walls of rubble
limestone that are a consistent thickness of approximately 460mm. These walls form a square
measuring approximately 8.3 metres by 10.1 metres on the outside. Walls within the core are also
constructed of rubble limestone and have a thickness of approximately 360mm, except one wall which
divides the north-east core room from the central passage. This wall is approximately 150mm thick and
is presumably built of brick masonry. It is likely that the passage wall was a later addition as the fireplace
is centrally located in relation to the north passage door and the east wall. The stem of the chimney
stack of this fireplace is constructed of limestone, with the section protruding above the roof line of brick.

The impression of an older roof line was noted on the side of the chimney stem.

Walls of the core area are mostly plastered and painted. Two sections of outside wall are finished with a
buff coloured render, the same as has been used for the entire exterior. A small area of the original
external wall treatment is evident above the line of the ceiling in the passage at the rear of the place.

The wall is rendered with a light coloured lime mix, and scored to imitate ashlar blockwork. Traces of
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Figure 3.20 Interior of the north-east (front) room. Palassis Architects 13.11.1999

Figure 3.21 Portion of the south wall of the central front room. Diagonal grooves on the sides of
the chimney (top LHS of photograph) are evidence of the alignment of an earlier roof which
pitched off this wall. Vertical marks on the wall surface immediately to the left of the door are
evidence of a stud wall which has been removed. Palassis Architects 13.11.1999
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a red lime based paint were evident on the surface. Similar paint was noted on the wall of the central A

passage, beneath more recent layers of oil based paint.

Sufficient joinery in the core part of the building has survived to provide an indication of the original
treatments. Doorways facing into the passage are lined with timber, with only light framing, and the
doors are hinged to open inwards to the rooms. The north passage door is treated in the same manner,
but the south passage door has a solid frame and timber lining to the inside reveals only. The west
facing door in the north-west room is similar, but the internal reveals are splayed outwards. [t is notable
that the corresponding window on the east side also has splayed reveals while the east facing window in
the south-east room does not. Both of these windows have timber-lined reveals. The wide door opening
in the south-west room is obviously recent and has obliterated any evidence of an earlier window
opening. The two windows in the east facing wall were evidently fitted with twin casement hung sashes,
and the large external opening in the south-west room was fitted with double doors. The door on the
west side of the north-west room opened into the said room. No doors remain intact, most having been

removed. Remnants which exist indicate that the doors were predominantly a framed panelled type.

Architraves are period mouldings characteristic of the colonial era, and those surrounding the doorways
into the passage have been removed (these would have been long lengths without rebates for striking
plates or hinges). The skirtings in the passage are timber, 210mm tall and unadorned apart from a
chamfered edge. On the east side of the passage, between the bedroom doors, is a length of bullnose
skirting which measures approximately 120mm tall. In the four central rooms, the skirtings are composed

of moulded render, of a simple design approximately 205mm tall with a chamfered edge.

Ceilings in the north-east, north-west and south-west rooms of the core are lath plaster, in varying states
of disrepair. There is no ceiling remaining in the passage way, and remnants of a plasterboard ceiling
exist in the south-east room. Floors throughout are tongue and groove hardwood (130mm wide) laid on
a system of joists (100 x 50mm) and bearers (80 x 126mm). Most of the flooring has been removed from

the four core rooms, but the passage floor remains whole.

The principal front room extends across the full width of the building's core. Evidence of a dividing wall
was noted in the plaster on the wall immediately east of the front door. There is a doorway in the centre
of the north wall leading onto the front verandah, and a window in either side of the door. A doorway at
the west end of the room leads to the room which projects forward at the west end of the facade. Beside
this doorway is a fireplace, constructed of brick and limestone rubble, with the remnants of a sheetmetal
surround. The west doorway is lined in the same manner as internal doorways in the core of the house,
but the north door has a heavy frame and is only lined on the inside reveal. Both windows are lined on
the inside reveal, and framed in a configuration which had twin casement sashes in the lower part,
surmounted by a transom sash. Most of the floor remains intact, though the boards are in poor condition.
The skirting is composed of moulded cement, approximately 245mm tall with a chamfered top edge.

Remnants of a lath plaster ceiling were evident.
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Figure 3.21 East elevation of the dairy. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998

Figure 3.22 North elevation of the dairy. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998
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Both rooms projecting out the front of the place measure approximately 3.4 metres wide and 4.9 metres »
deep internally. While the room on the west can only be accessed from the within the house, the east
room has only two external doors. Both rooms have a back door positioned hard against the core part of
the house. This door has a heavy frame which is recessed into the wall on the inside face, the door
opening into the room. Remnants of the framed panelled door are still attached by hinges to the frame of
the east room door. The other external door in the east room is framed in a similar manner as the rear
doors, but appears to have had a pair of French doors (opening inwards) surmounted by a transom sash.
Both rooms had a large diocletian window in the front wall. The six divisions of these windows contain
single pane sashes, the two principal side sashes being casement hung. The east room has a small
side window with twin casement sashes and a transom sash. A fireplace is occupies the corresponding
position in the west room.

Internal walls are plastered, the with the east and north facing walls in both rooms being lined with
gyprock on battens. Skirtings on the gyprock walls are a timber splay, 170mm tall, and that on the
plastered walls being a moulded render skirting 245mm tall with a chamfered top edge. Remnants of a
gyprock ceiling were evident in the east room. Floors in both rooms are 130mm wide tongue and groove
hardwood boards on a system of joists and bearers. Boards in the east room have been removed and
those in the west room are mostly burnt.

Adjoining the rear of the north-west room is a rendered brick addition, which has a concrete floor and
contained a bathroom, toilet and linen cupboard. The roof over this part is a low skillion, and ceilings are
gyprock with coved cornices. Window and door frames are painted timber, with bullnose architraves.
The western half of the skillion area at the rear of the building is of similar construction, the rooms in this
area being a toilet, bathroom and laundry. The eastern half of the rear skillion area appears to have
most recently served as a kitchen / dining area. There is a fireplace against the south wall, and a recess
on the right hand side of this appears to have housed a kitchen sink. Floors in the room are tongue and
groove hardwood, of which only part remains. Ceilings are raked, lined with gyprock and finished with
coved cornices. Although relatively complete, the ceilings are blackened from smoke. There are three
windows in this room, as well as a double width door opening to the concrete patio recess on the east
side of the building. The window west of the fireplace is a pair of double hung sashes of squat
proportions. A double hung sash window of more elegant proportions is located closer to the south-east
corner of the back wall. The opening in the east wall is almost square, and contains a single fixed sash.

No evidence of a cellar was found.

Description of the Dairy

The old dairy building is constructed of limestone masonry walls with brick quoins to the corners and
window reveals. Quoins used for the east wall are a calcium silicate block, but those used elsewhere are
a red pressed shale blend brick. The mortar appears to be lime based. Limestone masonry units used
for the east wall are of a uniform height, have a dressed face and squared sides. Limestone employed
for the construction of the other walls also has a dressed face but is of a more irregular form. Concrete
lintels have been used over door and window openings. The condition of the walls is mostly satistactory,

except for the masonry work around the west facing door at the north end of the building. A section of
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Figure3.23 West elevation of the dairy. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998

Figure 3.34 South elevation of the dairy. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998
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wall on the north side of the doorway has collapsed, with the result that the concrete lintel over the door
is no longer supported at one end.  The weight of the roof on the southern end of the lintel was holding
the beam in a cantilevered position at the time of carrying out the inspection for this report, but the
arrangement appeared to be quite unstable. |

Concrete has also been used for the floors throughout the dairy. The roof is framed with hardwood,
hipped in form, and clad with corrugated galvanised iron. Most sheeting is rusted, and a number of
sheets are missing. An open sided skillion structure is attached the southern half of the west wall,
returning around the south side. Part of this structure has collapsed.

There are five rooms within the masonry part of the dairy, the largest of which forms the southern half of
the building and contains the remains of tubular metal milking stalls. Immediately north of this room is a
wide passage area that has a double width door to the outside on the east side and doors to all of the
rooms in the building. In the south-west corner of the passage is a boiler of the type commonly referred
to as a "copper". There are concrete machinery mounts in both of the rooms on the north side of the

passage, and wooden brackets fixed to a wall in the north-east room.

Figure3.25 Milking room inside the dairy, view looking north. Palassis Architects 15.09.1998
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ANALYSIS OF THE DOCUMENTARY AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE

INTRODUCTION
In this section the evidence previously presented is compared and discussed with a view to providing a
basis for the assessment of cultural heritage significance, particularly the degree of significance in terms

of rarity and representativeness.

SEQUENCE OF EVENTS RELATING TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLACE
The history of physical change to the place is documented by early public plans, aerial photographs,
written and oral accounts of the place, and inspection of the existing fabric. From a comparison of the

available evidence, the history of the development of Chesterfield House can be summarised as follows:

1855 James Herbert commences trading from premises called "The Bush Inn". The location if this inn
has not been determined with certainty. It is possible that the inn established by William Hymus
two years previously, and in that case it would most likely have been situated on Location 44.
The alternative, that the inn was situated on the present site, seems more likely in view of the fact
that this would place it close to the early alignment of the main road through to Mandurah.

1857 Location 71 (20 acres) was surveyed on the 30" of August, and the survey drawing shows that a
building already existed on this land, approximately where Chesterfield House stands today.
Herbert also took out a new licence around this time. From around this time the inn became

known as the "Rockingham Arms".

1860s The route of the main road from Fremantle to Mandurah was shifted to a new alignment on the
east side of Location 71. The precise date when this occurred has not been determined, but the
district school which was built in 1865 addressed the road as it is presently aligned. The
boundaries of lots allocated in the late 1870s show that the present alignment of Mandurah Road
was certainly gazetted by that time.

1867 Herbert's landholding around the inn was increased by 40 acres with the addition of Location 130.
The place was sold the same year for £250. Unimproved land in the area generally sold for
around £1 per acre, so assuming that the land sold did not include Location 92 (12 acres) which
was a separate block granted to Herbert in 1857, the value of improvements to the place was in
the order of £190.

1876 The property was purchased by John Chester, who took over the licence in 1879. The inn

continued trading under the name "Rockingham Arms" until some time after 1885.
¢.1880 The landholding associated with the inn was increased with the addition of Location 220.

Late 1880s The inn was trading under the name "Chesterfield Inn" in order to prevent confusion with the

wayside inn established by William Day which was named the "Rockingham Inn".

¢.1910 A fire caused considerable damage to the inn. A mortgage to the value of £144/9/6 was taken

out on the property, presumably for the purpose of rebuilding the damaged portion of the inn.
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Inspection of the extant building fabric indicates that the masonry portion of the inn was retained, A
and four new rooms were constructed onto the north side. The loft and a semi-detached kitchen
that was mentioned in some accounts of the fire, were not rebuilt. The arrangement of the
existing building's floor plan tends to indicate that the original part of the building was oriented to
face south, and plans for the alterations undertaken in 1982 indicate that the south rooms had

south facing windows. Side windows in these rooms are of more recent date.

(May) The lease for the inn was again renewed, which would tend to indicate that the place had
been rebuilt by this time.

The licence was transferred to the Naval Base Hotel, and after this time the main use of the place

was as a residence (it also served as a post office),
A racetrack was made on the property, but no physical evidence of this can be seen today.

A description of the house at this time indicates that the building consisted of 8 rooms in the
main masonry part, and a weatherboard room on the back verandah (see Figure 4.1). This
correlates closely with the older part of the existing fabric. It was also mentioned that "the
general finish of the house was rough and condition worn", which would support the notion that
the reconstruction of 1912 incorporated much of the original building. Other outbuildings

mentioned in the will are no longer extant.

Location 71 and parts of Locations 130 and 220 (hereafter referred to as the property) were sold

out of the Chester family, to G.Ramsey.

The property was sold to P.Ward. The Ward family established a dairy farm on the property.
They were also responsible for adding a kitchen at the rear, a new bathroom and a new water
closet toilet. These additions are evident in the aerial photograph taken in 1942. The Wards
also filled in a cellar that was located at the at the north-eastern corner of the building (this cellar

has not previously been mentioned).
A new dairy was constructed north of the house. This dairy is still extant.
The property was sold out of the Ward family, but still operated as a dairy farm after this time.

The property was resumed, and after being vacant for a while the place was tenanted out to a
charitable organisation which used it as a youth refuge. Additions were made to the south and
west of the building during this period of occupation, and the external walls were rendered
(probably in the late 1980s).

A fire damaged one bedroom of the house, and the tenants were evicted. The building remained
vacant, during which it was subject to considerable vandalism including the removal of a

substantial amount of building material.

A second fire destroyed most of the roof of the building, and also damaged other combustible
materials in the north-west quarter of the building.

A 2 metre tall cyclone fence was erected around the house.
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COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS

Wayside Inns and Hotels

Chesterfield House is a building that has served a range of functions at different times in its history. Itis
apparent from the documentary evidence that the place was initially built to serve as a wayside inn
providing hospitality services to travellers on the road from Fremantle to Mandurah, but as East
Rockingham developed the inn also became an important social venue local population. In later years
the building was used as a domestic residence and most recently it served as a refuge for homeless
youth. The residential aspect of the place's use has almost certainly been continuous throughout its
history. In the colonial situation wayside inns were typically the residence of an individual or family who
supplemented their income by offering hospitality to travellers. In some respects, the bed and breakfast
operations of today are comparable to the wayside inns of last century, except that it was apparently

common for wayside inns to have a licence to sell alcoholic beverages.

Hotels were generally a more substantial operation than a wayside inn, but nevertheless retained the
residential aspect. For expedience the publican's family would occupy part of the hotel building, ensuring
that the place was always attended — essential for both security and in order to take in any travellers
arriving at a later hour. In many respects the function of the hotel has changed little over the past 150
years, and in many country towns in Western Australia one can find a hotel that has been operating

continuously over the last century or even longer, often in their original premises.

Relatively few wayside inns or hotels of the colonial period (1829 — ¢.1890) survive in Western Australia,
largely due to the changes in the hotel industry which occurred as a direct result of the gold boom in the
1890s and early 1900s. During this period the state received a huge a influx of immigrants, attracted by
the wealth being generated by gold mining, and many of these immigrants were itinerant, travelling
throughout the state in search of employment or a place to settle. Demand for accommodation and other
hospitality services increased dramatically during this time. Many new hotels were constructed, often on
a grand scale, and frequently replacing older hotel buildings that could no longer cope with the demand
for accommodation and other services. The 1890s were, in many respects, the golden age of the hotel
industry in Western Australia. The Palace Hotel, on the intersection of St. Georges Terrace and William
Street in Perth, is a typical example of an 1890s hotel replacing an earlier hotel of the colonial period, in

this case the Freemasons' (or Leeders') Hotel which was built in the mid 19" century.

Surviving examples of wayside inns and smaller hotels of the colonial period include the Terminus Hotel
(c.1880s) - Bridgetown; Anchor Inn (1865) - Donnybrook, a single storey brick building of a longitudinal
plan; former Picton Inn (c.1851), a small slab building with a loft, on the banks of the Preston River;
former Prince of Wales Hotel (1843) - Australind, a prefab. timber cottage now called Henton Cottage;
Fouracres or Peppermint Grove (1862)- Myalup, a wayside inn built by John Fouracres but now a ruin;
Mahogany Inn (1837/42) — Mahogany Creek, a stone cottage with a loft; and the former Greenough Hotel
(1867), a larger single storey masonry structure comprising a hotel with an adjoining residence. Several

colonial hotels have been incorporated into more recent structures, such as the Castle Hotel at York
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which was constructed of brick as a two storey hotel in 1841-42, but extended in 1850, 1867 and 1905. A

The Freemasons' Hotel at Toodyay, built as a single storey hotel in 1861, has similarly been extended
and is now part of a larger hotel complex which has a two storey front dating to the Gold Boom era.

There is some difficulty in comparing the physical fabric of Chesterfield House with that of the wayside
inns and hotels listed above, as the building is in fact an assemblage of fabric from various dates. The
core of the building evidently dates to the mid 19" century, and its plan configuration is similar to that of a
number of surviving colonial hotels and common houses of the period. It is possible that the place
originally resembled the Mahogany Inn at Mahogany Creek, which has a comparable floor plan and a
loft. Itis relatively certain that the main part of this inn, with its loft, dates to at least 1863 as the loft was

mentioned in an incident in which a prisoner escaped custody by climbing through the loft window .81

The facade treatment of Chesterfield House and form of its roof is characteristic of late 19" and early 20M
century buildings, which may be attributed to the reconstruction after the fire of circa 1910. The scale of
the place is more typical of domestic architecture of the time than that of hotels, and its planning is
similarly domestic in character, though obviously the product of additions over many years. Most hotels
of this period were two storey, purpose built, and their detailing comparatively flamboyant. Opportunities
for meaningful comparison of the place with other early 20" century hotels would therefore be limited.
There is one notable exception, however, and that is the Coogee Hotel which was established on the
road between Fremantle and Rockingham in 1901. The building is single storey, built of limestone with
brick quoins at the corners and as trimmings to the openings, and the building is also domestic
appearance.

Furthermore, the pattern of the Coogee Hotel's history parallels that of Chesterfield Inn: Coogee Hotel
was located to take advantage of traffic on the coastal road as well as to cater for the needs of a local
population. A race course which served as the headquarters of the Fremantle Jockey club was just
south of the hotel, at Woadman's Point, and it is recorded that the hotel's proprietor also established a
private race course on land next to the hotel — no doubt, to attract further patronage. Because of its
proximity to the seaside and short distance from Fremantle the Coogee Hotel became a popular
honeymoon destination. 8 The district's original post office operated from a store built immediately north
of the hotel, and these two buildings were for many years the social hub of the Coogee area. When the
hotel closed down, probably in the 1930s, it was purchased by the Anglican Church and for some time
used as an orphanage. The building is presently owned by the Main Roads Department and occupied by
lessees. These parallels are remarkable, but not altogether coincidental given that they are both located
along what is essentially the same major road, near the sea, and within an hour's drive by motorcar from

Fremantle. Most of the parallel developments also happened in the same historical period.

Elliot, 1. conversation with lan Boersma, 06.07.1999.
Berson, M., Cockburn: the making of a community, Town of Cockburn, 1978, pp.103-104.
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Dairies in East Rockingham

In the East Rockingham, dairy farming provided a major source of income for most of the properties
during the first half of the 20th century. Frank Churcher, a long term local resident who at one stage was
employed collecting milk from different properties, provided the following list of local properties that
operated dairies during the late 1940s through to the 1960s:

. Mead's property (Lealholm) - a large dairy constructed of local limestone.

. Sam Chalwell's property - a small dairy with 4 or 5 bays.

. Phil Ward's property (Chesterfield) - had a fair sized dairy constructed of local stone.

. Trevor Sloan's property (on Mandurah Road) — a dairy constructed of local stone.

. Joe Stokes' property - one of the larger dairies in the area, constructed of local stone.

. Pollard's property had a dairy.

. Riseley's property (The Pines) - dairy constructed of concrete blocks on a concrete pad.

. Devoretsky's property (Mona's Mount) had a dairy.

. Gilbert Chalwell's property (formerly Percy Sloan's property) - had a dairy with 4 to 6 stalls.83

It appears that only four of these dairies have survived in a recognisable form. Mead's dairy is in a ruined
condition, without a roof, but its plan arrangement and the functions of its parts are still apparent. The
dairy associated with Chesterfield House, Ward's, is relatively intact although the milking equipment has
been removed. Stokes' dairy is relatively intact, although the bails and milking equipment has been
removed. Trevor Sloan's dairy on Location 427 is relatively well preserved, but parts of the building are in
ruinous condition. Of Riseley's dairy, only the concrete floor slab and some concrete biocks are extant,
but from this it would be possible to determine the size of the dairy and its layout. Apparently many of
the dairies in the area were constructed of part corrugated iron and part masonry, either local limestone
or home-made concrete blocks. In cases where only part of the dairy was built of masonry, it would
usually be the milk room that was masonry.

The dairies on the Mead, Ward, Stokes and Trevor Sloan properties are of a similar size, constructed of
local limestone on a concrete floor slab, and typically have a large open area where the milking took
place, with smaller rooms located off to the sides or on the end. The milking area of Ward's dairy is
approximately 54m?, and the milk room and engine room for the milking machine are located at the
northern end of the building. A passage, approximately 2.3 metres wide separates the milking area from
the milk room and engine room. A copper is located in the west end of this passage, and was used to
sterilise the suction cups and the pipes through which the milk flowed. Having a copper inside the
building was, according to Frank Churcher, an unusual arrangement, it being more common to locate the
copper on an outside wall in order to avoid heating the interior.

Mead's dairy has a large open area of approximately 100m? of which only the eastern half appears to
have been used for milking. Presumably the other half was used for fodder storage. The milk room and
engine room were located at the southern end of the dairy. The function of a small room appended to
the west side of the dairy has not been determined. No evidence of a copper was found in Mead's daity.

Churcher, F., conversation with lan Boersma, 23.06.1999.
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) l TREVOR SLOAN'S DAIRY

STOKES' DAIRY

—_ WARD'S DAIRY

]

MEAD'S DAIRY

Figure 4.2 Plans of the Sloan's, Stokes', Ward's and Mead's dairies in East Rockingham.

Palassis Architects
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Stokes' dairy has a milking area of approximately 78m? and the milk room and engine room for the
milking machine are located at the southern end of the building. A long room along the west side was
used as a fodder store, and the copper is located in an open sided area at the south-west corner or the

building.

Trevor Sloan's dairy is constructed of local limestone which was quarried from the western end of the
property (traces of excavation in this area are still evident). Posts corresponding to the position of the
bails are still extant, indicating that the place could hold seven cows at any one time. There is a steel
drive shaft in the engine room, and an old stationary engine nearby which may in fact be the one used to
drive the milking machine. No evidence of a copper was found in this dairy. In plan, this dairy is almost
identical to that of the Stokes, and is similar in elevation, but has the milk and engine rooms are on the

northern end (not south) and the area of the milking room is smaller (approximately 60 m?).

Research into the operation of these dairies has been limited, but Frank Churcher recalls that Stoke's
dairy was one of the best in the district during the late 1940s through to the 1960s. However, when Phil
Ward built his dairy in the late 1940s or the early 1950s it was one of the best dairy buildings in the
district. His dairy was at least 10 or 15 years newer than any of the others, and by this time he was also
milking approximately the same number of cows as Stokes.®4 Churcher's assessment does not cover
Mead's dairy, as the Meads delivered their own milk and consequently he did not have the opportunity to
become acquainted with the place. Historical evidence would suggest, however, that the production of
Mead's dairy was greater than most dairies in the area, and the building appears to have been of a better
quality of construction than Stokes' dairy.85 Ward's dairy is also better constructed than that on the
Stokes' property, but is of a more recent date. Both Mead's and Stokes' dairies were built before 1942,

Ward's dairy being constructed after this date.

UNRESOLVED ISSUES RELATING TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLACE

There are a number of issues relating to the development of the place that have not been resolved.
Further research may be directed to resolving the uncertainties that have become apparent in the
evaluation of the evidence (section 4.2), addressing the following questions:

. Where was the Bush Inn located? Are there any remains on Location 44 that would indicate that
a public house had been located on that site in the early 1850s? Archaeological investigation is
likely to yield information with respect to this question. It is also possible that further

documentary evidence may be found that could clarify this matter.

. Where is the cellar located? Archaeological investigation of the north-east corner of the building
may reveal the extent and location of the cellar.

. Where is the well that initially served the house located? Archaeological investigation of the area

to the rear of the house may reveal the location of the well.

&R

Churcher, F., conversation with lan Boersma, 10.02.1997, also 5.07.1999.
Palassis, report dated May 1998, op.cit.
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Is there any evidence of fire damage of an early date on the core rooms? Investigation of the
wall surface beneath the paint and render, in areas unaffected by the recent fires, may provide

confirmation of this.

Can reports of local residents which mentioned the blacksmith's workshop west of the house,
and an area of the swamp containing discarded barrels, be confirmed as accurate by physical
remains? Further archaeological investigation of the site, possibly when the ground is being

disturbed for development, may reveal evidence to confirm these reports.

What information relating to the recent history of the place is contained in the place file of the
Heritage Council of Western Australia? The contents of this file can only available to the public

after lodging a specific request under The Freedom of Information Act.
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ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Introduction

This section discusses the broad range of issues arising from the documentary and physical evidence
which contribute to, or detract from, the significance of the place. The material presented here derives

from the evidence presented in preceding sections.

The Heritage Council of Western Australia's Criteria of Cultural Heritage Significance for Assessment of
Places for entry into the Register of Heritage Places has been used as a benchmark for determining the
nature and degree of the place's significance in terms of aesthetic, historical, scientific, and social

significance as well as rarity and representativeness.

Aesthetic Value

As an architectural composition, the facade of Chesterfield House is pleasing for its restrained detailing,
comfortable proportions, and the symmetrical arrangement of its fenestration which makes the front door

the focus of the elevation. (Criterion 1.1)

The dairy building has some aesthetic appeal as a building constructed of principally of local stone, which
has acquired a patina of even, earthy tones which relate harmoniously with the surrounding natural
environment. The corroded surface of the roof, weather bleached texture of timber elements timber on
the south-western corner of the building, as well as the tumble-down appearance of the place have some

aesthetic value, particularly in the context of the present landscape of fallow fields. (Criterion 1.1)

Historic Value

Chesterfield House has historic value as one of the earliest stopping place for travellers on the road
between Fremantle and Mandurah, and is one of the few remaining wayside inns in Western Australia
that was established during the first fifty years of this state. The house is also significant for the part it
played in the social and civic development of the district, being the oldest commercial building in the City
of Rockingham and also the district's first post office. (Criterion 2.1)

Chesterfield House has considerable local importance to the people of Rockingham for its association
with a number of the district's pioneering families, including the Herberts, Chesters and Wards, as well as
other individuals who were prominent in the early history of the district, including Daniel Hymus and

James Bell. (Criterion 2.3)

The place also has value for its association with the history of dairy farming history in East Rockingham.
The existing dairy was built under the management of Phil Ward, and at the time of its construction was

one of the district's best dairy buildings. (Criterion 2.2)
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Scientific Value

The place, having a long history of European occupation and containing substantial evidence of material
culture including both building fabric and archaeological matetial, has value as site for research into the

cultural history of Western Australia. (Criterion 3.1)

Chesterfield House has some interest from a cultural-geological point of view: the stone employed in its
construction of parts of this building is a vuggy lacustrine limestone which, apart from in the Cockburn
Sound region, has not been quarried for building purposes. Chesterfield House is one of the older and
more substantial buildings in the area that has been built of this stone type. The dairy is constructed of a

more common form of limestone that is widely available in coastal areas. (Criterion 3.1)

Social Value

Local residents have demonstrated a keen interest in retaining Chesterfield House, as is evident from the
formation of the "Friends of Chesterfield Inn" and the active lobbying of the Conservation of Rockingham
Kwinana Environment (CORKE) group. The National Trust has also demonstrated its support for the

place's retention, as is evident from its referral of place to the Heritage Council of W.A. (Criterion 4.1)

Chesterfield House is among a number of sites in East Rockingham which provide the district with a
sense of history and permanence. The importance of these places is heightened by the impending

development which is likely to substantially alter the character of the district. (Criterion 4.2)

Rarity

As a surviving example of a wayside inn and hotel established during the mid 19" century, the place is
considered to be uncommon. Relatively few buildings of this type have survived in W.A.. (Criterion 5.1)

The East Rockingham area, of which Chesterfield House is a crucial part, is rare for its almost intact
collection of colonial buildings and recognisable sites of early settlement. Few districts, particularly within

such close proximity of Perth, are able to boast of a comparable cultural environment. (Critetion 5.1)

The masonry of the house and dairy has some value as an example of local building techniques that are
no longer current. Examples of this building genre are becoming increasingly rare as older and
redundant buildings are demolished or left to decay. (Criterion 5.2)

The dairy is not considered to be intrinsically rare in terms of its design.

Representativeness

The layout and general form of the dairy is representative of dairies built in the East Rockingham area in
the 1930s and 1940s, and is able to demonstrate aspects of the process of milking as this was carried
out in the 1930s through to the 1960s. (Criterion 6.2)

There is insufficient evidence to determine whether or not the layout and general form of Chesterfield
House is representative of wayside inns or hotels of the colonial era, although there is some indication

that other places of this type were of a similar design. (Criterion 6.2)
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Condition, Integrity, and Authenticity

Condition

Two fires have reduced Chesterfield House to a masonry shell with only part of a roof and remnants of its
joinery remaining. The north-western quarter of the building has suffered the greatest damage, but
because the fire was concentrated in the roof space, the walls of the building are mostly in sound
condition. Painted finishes and plasterwork are to varying degrees damaged. Floors in most areas were
not affected by the fire, but most have subsequently been destroyed by the deliberate but unauthorised
removal of salvageable timber. Doors, lining boards from the door reveals and the moulded architraves
facing into the central passage have similarly been removed after the fires. Plumbing and electrical

services in the building have been rendered inoperable.

The dairy building is generally in fair condition. The condition of the walls is mostly satisfactory, except for
the masonry work around the west facing door at the north end of the building. A section of wall on the
north side of the doorway has collapsed, with the result that the concrete lintel over the door is no longer
supported at one end. There is also a hole in the wall between the passage and the engine room which
is likely to become enlarged by vandalism if left in its present state. The roof is rusted and leaking, but
stili affords the building a reasonable degree of protection from weather. The condition of the internal

finishes is poor, the walls are covered with graffiti and grime.

Inteqrity

Many of the values identified with the place are sustainable, providing that Chesterfield House is restored
to a sound and habitable state. If left in its present state, the condition of the place will rapidly
deteriorate and eventually the physical form of the place would be lost — which would in effect destroy the
cultural significance of Chesterfield House as a physical entity. Its significance is bound up with both the
site and the physical fabric of the house. Some value is derived from the context, which includes a rural
landscape (that will shortly be changed to industrial) and a relationship to other sites of early settlement
(which are likely to be retained). The significance of the dairy building is limited, and its retention is
unlikely in view of pressures from future development.

Authenticity

Chesterfield House is a place that has been subject to various extensions and alterations throughout its
history. Most of these changes have been executed in a sympathetic manner, and the present form of
the building has a pleasing aesthetic quality. The changes that are evident in the building fabric may be
viewed as an historical text, documenting the evolution of the building from the 1850s to the present.
Given that most of the fabtic is significant as an expression of the place's long history of occupation and

changing uses, it may also be considered to "authentic".
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Chesterfield House, a substantial single storey building, built of rubble limestone and brick masonry walls
with a corrugated iron roof and mostly wooden floors, together with a dairy of similar construction and
concrete floors, has cultural heritage significance for the following reasons:

the place is among the earliest land grants in the Rockingham region, and the house is
one of the region's oldest built structures;

the house is the oldest commercial building in the municipality, and one of the few
remaining examples of a wayside inn established during the mid 19" century;

the place has social value for its association with a number of the district's pioneering
families and other individuals who were prominent in the early history of the district;

the place is among a number of sites in East Rockingham which provide tangible
evidence of the district's early history;

the architectural composition of the facade of Chesterfield House is considered to have
aesthetic merit;

the dairy is representative of a class of outbuildings commonly constructed in the East
Rockingham area in the mid 20" century using stone that was locally available. The
layout of the dairy is able to demonstrate aspects of the process of milking as this was
carried out in the 1950s through to the 1960s; and,

the stonework and other fabric of the dairy has acquired a patina from many years of
exposure to the elements, and in the context of a fallow field has aesthetic value for its
compositional and textural qualities.

Apart from the cyclone mesh fence recently erected around the perimeter of the house, the site contains

no cultural fabric that is deemed to be intrusive to the character of the place.

On the basis of this assessment, the place as a whole is deemed to be a place of ‘exceptional' local
significance, and a place of "considerable" significance within the state context. In terms of its elements,
the house is deemed to be of "exceptional" local significance and the dairy building of "some" local

significance. 86

See figure 6.1 for the grading of significant zones within the house.

Based on the four tier scale used to describe the relative significance of places as outlined by James Semple Kerr in The
Conservation Plan: A guide to the preparation of conservation plans for places of European cultural significance National Trust of
Australia, 1996, p.19. The four tiers are: exceptional, considerable, some and little. Intrusive is also used as a fifth category to
describe fabric that is not considered to contribute to, and in fact detracts from, the place’s cultural significance.
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Definitions

s Place means site, area, building or other work, group of buildings or other works together with

associated contents and surrounds.

« Cultural significance means aesthetic, historic, scientific or social value for past, present or future

generations.

< Fabric means all the physical material of the place.

« Conservation means all the processes of looking after a place so as to retain its cultural significance. It
includes maintenance and may according to circumstance include preservation, restoration,

reconstruction and adaptation and will be commonly a combination of more than one of these.

«  Maintenance means the continuous protective care of the fabric, contents and setting of a place and is
to be distinguished from repair. Repair involves restoration or reconstruction and it should be treated

accordingly.

+  Preservation means maintaining the fabric of a place in its existing state and retarding deterioration.

+  Restoration means returning the EXISTING fabric of a place to a known earlier state by removing

accretions or by reassembling existing components without the introduction of new material.

« Reconstruction means returning a place as nearly as possible to a known earlier state and is
distinguished by the introduction of materials (new or old) into the fabric. This is not to be confused with

either recreation or conjectural reconstruction which are outside the scope of this Charter.

< Adaptation means modifying a place to suit proposed compatible uses.

«  Compatible use means a use which involves no change to the culturally significant fabric, changes which

are substantially reversible, or changes which require a minimal impact.

Figure 7.1 Extract from the Australia ICOMOS Burra Charter, giving definitions for the various terms used in

conservation works.
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The purpose of this conservation plan is to provide a framework for the future conservation of
Chesterfield House. Significant qualities of the place have been identified through a process of gatheting
and analysing documentary and physical evidence relating to it, and the policies in this section have

been formulated with an aim to preserve these significant qualities through considered conservation

Heritage specialists in Australia generally accept the ICOMOS Burra Charter as the ‘standard for best
practice in the conservation of heritage places. The policies in this conservation plan have been
formulated with the principles and procedures outlined in the Burra Charter as a guide. The philosophy
embraced by the Burra Charteris explained by the following guote:

There are places that are worth keeping because they enrich our lives - by helping us
understand the past; by contributing to the richness of the present environment; and
because we expect them to be of value to future generations.

The cultural significance of a place is embodied in its physical material (fabric), its setting
and its contents; in its use; in the associated documents; and in its meaning to people
through their use and associations with the place.

The cultural significance of a place, and other issues affecting its future, are best
understood by a methodical process of collecting and analysing information before

Keeping accurate records about decisions and changes to the place helps in its care,
management and interpretation.8”

The major issues that are addressed in the policy section of this conservation plan are summarised as

whether or not it would be acceptable to relocate the house and dairy, given that (1) the
place's history is closely interconnected with its context and that the presence of these
buildings assists in our understanding of the development of the area, (2) that the house
is a landmark in the area, and (3) that the nature of construction of the house and dairy
is fragile and cannot be moved in their complete form;

what curtlage would be appropriate for the place, given the intended future
development of the surrounding land and the limited significance of the dairy;

what uses the house (and possibly the dairy) could be put to in order to make its
conservation financially viable;

what approach that should be taken to conserving the house and the dairy respectively,
given that much of the house's fabric is not original but illustrates the history of
occupation, and that the intrinsic significance of the dairy is limited,;

what actions are required to maintain the existing fabric in a stable condition until such
time as a full program of conservation works are undertaken; and,

once the place is conserved, what maintenance should be undertaken in order to
minimise the deterioration of significant building fabric.

7.0 CONSERVATION POLICY
7.1 INTRODUCTION
actions and management strategies.
making decisions.
follows:
87

Walker, M., Understanding The Burra Charter, Australia ICOMOS inc, 1996.
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Role of the Statement of Significance

Having recognised that the significant material elements should be conserved in their original location, it
is necessary to ensure that future actions relating to the conservation of the place do not detract from the
significant qualities of the place. There have been numerous instances where a well intended
"rgstoration job" has compromised one or more aspects of a place's significance because of an over-

emphasis on another aspect, usually the original form of the building.

Policy 4 The role of the statement of significance

The planning of conservation works should be informed by an understanding of all of the
qualities that have been identified as contributing to the place's cultural significance.
These qualities are outlined in the statement of significance (Section 6.0).

Direction for the Place's Conservation

There is a need to inform the planning of conservation works with an understanding of the qualities that
have been identified as contributing to the place's cultural significance. The policies in this conservation
plan are intended to be a practical guide in relation to these matters. Their effectiveness in ensuring the
best possible care of the place will be dependant upon whether or not this document is adopted and
actioned as required. The cooperation of the owner and local government authority (which at the present
time is seeking to facilitate the conservation of the place as a service to the community) is crucial in order
to realise the place's conservation. It would also be helpful to gain support for the place's conservation
from the wider community - individuals within the community are likely to develop a sense of
responsibility for the place if they are aware of its meaning and understand that it is to be preserved for

this and future generations.

Policy 5 Role of the Conservation Plan

The policies recommended in this conservation plan should be endorsed by both the land
owner and the local government authority as the principal guide for planning decisions
that will affect the site, and as a guide for the conservation of the significant fabric.

The conservation plan may also serve as a local historical resource. Copies of the
document should be lodged with the libraries and the Historical Society servicing the
Rockingham region.

The Burra Charter, developed by the Australian National Committee of the International Council on
Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS), sets out the principles generally accepted in Australia for the
consetvation of heritage places. The philosophy embodied in that document has been used as a basis
for the formulation of this conservation plan. As such, the Burra Charter forms an important reference
document for the present and future custodians of Chesterfield House, and may assist in resolving any

issues relating to the conservation of the place that are not explicitly dealt with in the conservation plan.

Policy 6 Role of the Burra Charter

In addition to the conservation plan, the principles and processes set out in the Australia
ICOMOS Burra Charter should be used to inform decisions relating to the conservation of
the place.
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The Burra Charter (Article 4) recognises that in many cases caring for a culturally significant place will

require skills that are beyond the capabilities of the average person, therefore requiring the input of

people with expertise in a specialised area of conservation.

Policy 7__Specialist advice

A high degree of professionalism is warranted for all aspects of the place's conservation.
Any proposed works should be considered with the input of a recognised conservation
practitioner who must ensure that the outcome of the proposal aims to retain or enhance
the cultural significance of the place and that appropriate specialist advice is sought as
required.

STATUTORY CONSTRAINTS

Heritage Listings

In Australia, places of historic interest are officially recognised by being entered into a list or register kept
by a number of government and community organisations concerned with the responsible management
of this country's cultural heritage. Historic places in Western Australia may be listed by any of the

following organisations:

o Australian Heritage Commission (Register of the National Estate).

. Heritage Council of Western Australia (Register of Heritage Places).

. National Trust of Australia - W.A. (List of Classified Places and Landscapes).
. Local government authorities (municipal heritage inventories).

Chesterfield House has not been entered into the Register of the National Estate. Listing on this register

has no practical implications for places other than those that are Commonwealth property.

The W.A. Heritage Committee (precursor of the Heritage Council) entered Chesterfield House and the
associated dairy into its database in 1989 (place numbers 2325 and 2326). The place has not as yet
been formally assessed by the Heritage Council. On the basis of the assessment of significance
prepared for this conservation plan it seems likely that the place would meet the threshold requirements
for entry into the Register. Owners of property entered in this register will be required to observe the
requirements of the Heritage of Western Australia Act, 1990 (and subsequent amendments), into which
the Register is incorporated. The Act has a mechanism which makes possible the prosecution of
persons found damaging registered property, and also outlines a range of incentives that may be offered

to owners of registered places in order to assist in undertaking conservation.

The National Trust of Australia undertook an assessment of Chesterfield House (not including the dairy)
on 5" October 1970, at which time the place was given a "C" classification. When, in 1973, the Trust
revised its classification system the place retained its Classified status. Classification by the National

Trust of Australia (W.A.) has no practical implications for the owners of heritage places.

The place (including the dairy) has been entered into the City of Rockingham's Municipal Heritage
Inventory (place N@. 20). This listing flags the place for detailed consideration by the City of Rockingham

in the event that the place should be the subject of any development application.
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Policy 8 Entry into the Regqister of Heritage Places

Chesterfield House should be considered for entry into the Register of Heritage Places.

Policy 9 Assessment of work proposals

Whether or not the place is registered, and as a matter of courtesy, the Heritage Council
of Western Australia should be invited to comment on any proposed development or
conservation works that are likely to physically affect the place or alter its significance.

7.3.2 Other Statutory Constraints

Buildings within Western Australia that are in the process of being constructed, altered or improved, must
comply to cutrent State and Federal Government Acts, Regulations and By-Laws concerned with the
design of building fabric. Amendments to these regulations occur from time to time, creating the situation
where a building does no longer comply with the current regulation standard. An owner or occupant may
or may not be obliged to effect a retrospective upgrade the building to meet new standards, depending

on the nature of the building and the particular regulations concerned.

Federal or State Legislation relating to standards of building design and construction® is generally

enforceable at all times. This means that particular components or facilities within a building may require
retrospective upgrade to comply to a particular regulation standard. Examples of regulations(deriving
from Acts) that may be of relevance to Chesterfield House when in the event of adaptive works include,
but are not limited to;

. Building Regulations;

. Health Act (Public Buildings) Regulations;

. Electricity Act Regulations; and,

. Metropolitan Water Supply, Sewerage and Drainage By-Laws.

The Building Code of Australia (BCA) is a document that sets out technical provisions for the design and

construction of buildings and other structures throughout Australia. The aims of the document are to
enable the achievement and maintenance of acceptable standards of structural sufficiency, safety
(including safety from fire), health and amenity in buildings for the benefit of the general community. The
BCA is given legal effect by building regulatory legislation in each State and Territory.% In Western
Australia the BCA has been adopted in the Building Regulations 1989, Section 5. Buildings erected prior
to the enforcement of current BCA standards are not normally subject to a retrospective application of

these regulation standards unless new building works are being carried out.9!

Local Government Requirements must be followed in the case of any construction, alterations or

improvements to a building under jurisdiction of the municipal authority. These requirements are
generally in the form of amendments to the Building Code of Australia, and are not normally enforced
retrospectively.

Regulatory legislation dealing with building design and construction has been assembled as the Compiled Building Regulations -
Western Australia, published by Architectural Computer Systems, Subiaco W.A.

Building Code of Australia 1996, Volume 1, pp.1001-1003.
See Section 5.2 of the Building Regulations 1989.
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Policy 10 Compliance with requlations

Any proposal for new building works is to comply with the Building Code of Australia
1996, except where the works are exempted from conforming to the Code under the
provision of Section 5 (2) of the Building Regulations 1989.

Where the Deemed-to-Satisfy provisions of the Building Code of Australia 1996 are in
conflict with the heritage value of the place then an alternative solution should be found
that does not compromise the place's significant values but which satisfies the
performance requirements of the Code. The procedures outlined in the Code for
providing an alternative solution should be followed.

OTHER CONSTRAINTS
Planning Constraints

Overview
Chesterfield House (including the dairy) is located in an area zoned "Industrial" under the Metropolitan
Region Scheme (MRS). The area is zoned as "General Industry" under the City of Rockingham's Town

Planning Scheme No. 1 (current at the time of writing this report).

East Rockingham Industrial Park

Chesterfield House (including the dairy) is located within the area designated as East Rockingham
Industrial Park (ERIP). The concept of this industrial park development is an initiative of the Western
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC), which in its recently released State Planning Strateqy®

provides details of its commitment to give emphasis to "investigating strategic industry sites accessible to
regional centres and ensure that they are incorporated into regional plans and/or statutory region
schemes." East Rockingham is identified in the strategy document as an area for the potential
development of heavy industry. The WAPC has devised a specific document known as the |P-14
Structure Plan (1996) as a blueprint to guide planning development subdivisions in the East Rockingham
area. Under this plan, land west of Mandurah Road and to the north and south of Chesterfield Road is
designated for "Environmentally Acceptable Heavy Industry." Office Road forms the northern boundary
of this area, and the southern boundary is a railway reservation on the northern edge of the East

Rockingham Light Industrial Area (which is a narrow belt of land extending parallel to Dixon Road).

WAPC has indicated that it has not planned for the retention of heritage properties within the areas
designated for Environmentally Acceptable Heavy Industry, however, the East Rockingham Garden

Industrial Precinct Comprehensive Development Plan & Report prepared by Taylor Burrell in May 1998

has made recommendations based on the assumption that the place will be either conserved on site or
relocated to the proposed interpretation centre on the corner of Day and Dixon Roads. The report
indicates that, because of the place's location within an area of high societal risk (subject to the actual
nature of the industry that will be established on the site), its future use will necessarily involve managed
public access in order to avoid an increase in concentrations of people in the areas of high risk. The

report recommends that the house could at a future date be used as an administration, reception or

WAPC (1996) State Planning Strategy.

KEVIN PALASSIS ARCHITECTS

chesterfield house conservation plan




- 63 -
information centre for an industry operating on the site. It further recommends that the house should be
preserved on site with managed public access or, in the event that its retention is incompatible with the
intended placement of industrial buildings on the site, it should be relocated to the old abattoir site on the
corner of Dixon and Day Roads which the City of Rockingham intends to develop as an interpretation

centre for the region's cultural and natural heritage. %
Implementation of the Structure Plan is likely to impact on Chesterfield House in the following ways:
. Transformation of context from its present rural situation to industrial.

. Limitation of site access and visitor volume because of the location of Chesterfield House within
the Heavy Industry Precinct which is an area of high societal risk. A maximum average
population of only 11.5 - 13.5 persons per hectare will be permitted. This will affect the options
for re-use of the place, precluding uses such as lunch bars, refreshment rooms, shops, show
rooms, trade displays and industry service. The density of adjacent development will also be

affected by the restrictions on population.

. Visual or geographical isolation of Chesterfield House from other heritage places, and the
possible removal of other heritage places. Removal of other hetitage places will result in the

diminished significance of those which are retained.

Policy 11 _Relationship with planning agencies

Agencies concerned with planning developments in the East Rockingham area should be
made aware of the heritage value of Chesterfield House and any plans that may be
current for its conservation. These agencies should be encouraged to cooperate with the
community's interest in conserving the place.

7.4.2 Requirements of the Owner

Chesterfield House (including the dairy) is situated on a property owned by Landcorp, the land
developing arm of the State Government of Western Australia. Although it is not a government
department, Landcorp is a government trading entity and subject to most public sector guidelines.% The

property associated with Chesterfield House comprises the following lots:

» Lot 1 Chesterfield Road (which is part of Cockburn Sound Locations 130 and 220) — Title Vol. 1549 / Fol. 227.
» Lot 2 Chesterfield Road (which is Cockburn Sound Loc. 71 and part of Loc. 130) — Title Vol. 1549 / Fol. 228.

+ Part of Cackburn Sound Loc. 130 — Title Vol. 1549 / Fol. 230.

+ Part of Cockburn Sound Loc. 220 - Title Vol. 2082 / Fol. 370.

Landcorp also owns other land in the area, including the north adjoining property (Part Cockburn Sound
Location 427) which was for many years farmed by Trevor Sloan. These lots were purchased by the

State with the intention of making the {and available for the large scale industry in accordance with the

Taylor Burrell, East Rockingham Garden Industrial Precinct Comprehensive Development Plan & Repont, unpublished report for
Landcorp, DRD & WAPC, May 1998, p.18.

Landcorp operates under the provisions of the Western Australian Land Authority Act, 1992,

KEVIN PALASSIS ARCHITECTS

chesterfieid house conservation plan



-64 -
WAPC's strategic planning for the area. Development of land for industry is generally be undertaken with

the economic development of the state as one of its main objectives. Cost recovery is also a major

concern to government agencies.

The fact that Chesterfield House is located on land intended for industrial development is problematic, as
its retention would impose certain limitations on the manner in which new structures can be placed on the
site. Moreover, directing funds to conserving historic structures on its property is not consistent with
Landcorp's principal objectives. Landcorp has indicated, however, that it respects the community's
interest in the place and in response to community's request to secure Chesterfield House against
vandalism has erected a cyclone fence around the building. In the past, Landcorp has also been
supportive of the concept developed by certain members of the community, to relocate Chesterfield
House to another site. Recently, the City of Rockingham has indicated that it would be keen to see basic
repairs made to the building (urgent works) in order to prevent further loss of significant building fabric
and stabilise the house and dairy structures until further conservation works are able to be carried out.
Landcorp has indicated that it would address these urgent works using its own resources if its board
agreed to it, but it could not allow other parties to become financially involved at this stage as they would

then have a right to determine the future of the place.

When the time comes that an industrial complex is to be established on the site a decision will need to be
made on whether or not the house and dairy can be retained or are to be demolished (possibly to be
reconstructed on another site). It is likely that the Minister for Planning and Heritage will be required to

make this decision.

Policy 12 _Interim protection of the building fabric

Until such time as a final decision can be made on the future of the place, whether it is o
be conserved on its present site or not, it should be assumed that Chesterfield House
(including the dairy) will be retained on their present site and eventually be conserved. In
the interim the building fabric should be protected from further deterioration. Works
identified in the Urgent Works Report prepared in September 1998, and any other urgent
works that have become apparent since that time, should be carried out with minimal
delay.

Policy 13 Development within close proximity to the place

Plans for new development within close proximity of the house or dairy (if retained)
should be assessed for potential physical and visual impact on the significant fabric.
Where the proposed development is deemed to be intrusive, an alternative proposal
should be sought.

Policy 14 Definition of a conservation area

A conservation area should be determined for the place. The plan configuration of this

conservation area should be determined with a view to ensuring that the significance of

the place is maintained, and that it will allow viable options for future use of the place.
Because of the limited significance of the dairy, it is considered desirable but not essential to include this
feature within a designated conservation area. Where feasible, however, effort should be taken to
minimise the loss of significant cultural or natural features that are located outside the designated

conservation area.
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Policy 15 Features located outside the conservation area

In the event that the designated conservation area does not include features of some
significance such as the dairy, mature trees or archaeological sites, effort should be
made to plan developments in the area to avoid destroying these features. Where
possible, these features should be incorporated into the landscaping of the development.

FUTURE USE

At present, the house and dairy are vacant and neither building is in a habitable state. The house had
been occupied until a fire damaged part of the place in 1992. Recent inspection of the fabric has
revealed that the walls are in a sound state and that in parts of the building the timberwork of the roof and
window frames are in fair condition. Generally speaking, extensive works would be reqﬁired to make the
place habitable, and would involve reconstruction of most of the roof, replacement of floors in most of the
building, replacement of fire damaged and vandalised door and window joinery, repainting of internal
finishes, replacement of cabinetwork and other fixtures, and installation of new plumbing and electrical

services.

The internal arrangement of the rooms within the house is such that the building, if restored, could be
adapted for a range of uses, including domestic dwelling, hostel type accommodation, hospitality (hotel),
serviced offices, or a gallery for the display of products or information. The bresent rural character of the
area precludes some of these uses in the short term, and the intended development of the context (see

Section 7.4.1) precludes other of these uses in the long term.

The dairy is of substantial construction, and its plan arrangement is such that the internal spaces could
be adapted for a range of uses including site offices or a gallery for the display of products or information.
The dairy could also be used as a storage shed or workshop for an industry establishing itself on the site.
Because of the limited significance of this building, considerable adaptation of the building fabric would

be acceptable.

Policy 16 Interim use of Chesterfield House

Should it become evident that the property will not be required for the establishment of
industry for a period of at least 5 years, then Chesterfield House should be repaired and
adapted in such a manner as to allow a compatible interim use. A lease arrangement
should be made that will ensure that the costs involved in repairing the building are
recovered.

Policy 17 Future use

In the long term, Chesterfield House should be conserved in a manner that allows the
building to fulfill a useful function relevant to its context of industry and to work within the
various constraints outlined in this report. Acceptable future uses for the house (and
possibly aiso the dairy) are for a reception area, office, or gallery for the display of
products or information. The dairy may also be used as a storage shed or workshop for
an industry establishing itself on the site.
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SPECIFIC GUIDELINES FOR CONSERVATION
General Approach to Conservation

There are any number of approaches that one can take to conserving a building, ranging from basic
protection against vandalism to a full restoration of the fabric and reconstruction of missing elements.
Adaptation may also form a part of conservation works, and could involve construction of new elements
in a manner that interacts physically with the original fabric or alongside without disturbing the original.
The approach that one should take in conserving a place is determined by a wide range of factors,
including in this case the nature of the place's significance, the condition of the fabric, the requirements of
interest groups, availability of finance for the work, and the opportunities that exist for future use of the

place.

In the case of Chesterfield House, the various phases of the place's history are expressed in the fabric of
the place which dates to different periods of occupation and use. Part of the building is evidently of a
very early date, possibly dating to 1855, the front of the building dates to the reconstruction after the fire
of circa 1910, some of the rear additions to the period in which the house was occupied by the Ward
family, and recent additions were made when the place was used as a hostel in the 1980s and early
1990s. It would be desirable to retain evidence of all of these phases in the place's history if possible.
However, it is recognised that the earliest fabric is the most significant and that the significance of the
most recent alterations is limited. Hence the relative significance of the different elements will have a

bearing on what degree of adaptation or preservation should occur.

Policy 18 _General approach to conservation of the place

The house should be conserved in a manner that allows evidence of the different phases
of the place's history to be expressed. It should be acknowledged that change will be
ongoing as the place is put to new uses, but effort should be taken to minimise the
effects that these changes may have on the extant building fabric in areas of exceptional
or considerable significance (as indicated in Figure 6.1). Adaptation should be
concentrated in areas of little or some significance.

The dairy should be retained if feasible. The masonry and roof fabric of the dairy should
be preserved in such a way that the original texture of the external stonework is
expressed and the layout of the building can still be discerned. There is scope for
considerable adaptation, including the removal of portions of existing fabric and the
introduction of large amounts of new fabric, providing that this new fabric is clearly
distinguishable from the old.

7.6.2 Detailed Guidelines for the Conservation of Chesterfield House

The following policies provide detailed guidelines for the conservation of specific parts of the building.

Policy 19 _Roof

The roof should be restored to the form that it was immediately prior to the fire of 1992.
New structural members should be provided where necessary, however, as much of the
existing timberwork in the eastern part of the building should be preserved as is possible,
as evidence of the original construction. Charred members should be retained if it is
evident that their structural value has not been significantly impaired by the fire.

For concealed work, steel or pine structural members may be used in reconstructing the
roof. Roof sheeting should be traditional galvanised corrugated iron.
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Policy 20 Walls

No structural changes should be made to the original limestone walls in the core of the
structure. New openings may be made in the walls of the north rooms, providing that the
changes are discreet and do not detract from the symmetry of the front elevation. Other
areas may sustain considerable adaptation.

Mortar used for repairs and reconstruction should be traditional lime mortar of a
composition closely matching that originally used. Traditionally slaked lime or lime putty
should be used in preference to dehydrated lime and, where possible, aggregate should
be locally sourced. Portland cement should not be applied to the original or
reconstructed fabric.

The yellow rendered finish on the external face of the walls may be removed if the
original finish of the building is to be restored. However, a new render coating matching
the eatrlier finish will then be required for the most recent parts of the building that are
constructed in brick, or these parts will need to be removed.

Internal wall finishes in the older parts of the building should be investigated and a record
made of the different paint types and colours that have been used in the past. New
colour schemes should be based on historic precedent wherever possible.

Policy 21 Joinery

Joinery in core of the structure and in the north rooms should be conserved. Extant
joinery that is in sound condition should be restored, and fire damaged joinery
reconstructed using the surviving joinery as a model.

Window and door frames in the southern part of the building should be constructed of
timber in the traditional manner, but may be altered from their existing form to suit new
requirements. Metal window and door frames should not be used in the building.

Evidence of original finishes should be investigated to allow new finishes for the joinery to
be based on historical precedent.

Details that are missing, such as window sashes or string mouldings on the verandah
posts, should be reinstated with new elements of a form that is based on the available
evidence. Conjectural reconstruction of missing elements should be avoided.

Policy 22 Floors and verandahs

Rooms that originally had timber floors should have their floors reinstated, using boards
of the same width and timber as original. Timber floors should be ociled or wax polished,
not sealed with an impervious synthetic treatment.

The concrete floor of the front verandah should be removed and replaced with a timber
floor that is of a design based on evidence of the original verandah. The concrete side
verandahs may be replaced with timber of a similar design as the front, if desired.

Policy 23 Ceilings

Damaged lath and plaster ceilings should be restored if at least 50% of the laths are
remaining and both faths and joists are sufficiently sound.

In other rooms in the core part of the building, where it is evident that the original ceiling
was lath and plaster without a cornice, a new ceiling of plasterboard (or gyprock) should
be installed and finished flush at the wall edges, without a cornice. Ceiling roses should
not be installed unless it can be demonstrated that there is historical precedence of such
a feature in the room in question.

Ceilings in areas of little or some significance should be reinstated as they were prior to
the fire of 1992, or replaced with ceilings that are obviously of a present day design.

Policy 24 Service areas

Service areas such as kitchens and bathrooms should be confined to former service
areas, or located in new structures.
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7.6.3 Landscaping

There is little precedent for landscaping around Chesterfield House. An examination of early
photographs of the place revealed that the place had few ornamental plants but that the native grass
trees and tuarts formed an important part of the place's setting. Chesterfield Road, which forms the
entrance driveway from Mandurah Road, is flanked by a number of sizeable tuarts (one of which is
estimated to be aged between 90 and 100 years old at the time of writing this report) and these
contribute to the more pleasant aesthetic qualities of the place. A number of introduced plantings
presently exist around the house, including a peppercorn tree in front of the place, a Rottnest Island pine
and a pomegranate tree on the west side of the house, and an almond tree near the south-west corner of

the house. The dairy is located in a field setting, and there are no plantings in its immediate context.

Policy 25 Landscaping

The following constraints should guide the planning of landscaping in the vicinity of the
house and dairy:

«  Remnant plantings in the vicinity of the house should be retained and integrated with
any new landscaping that is devised for the place.

« Landscaping around the house should not conceal the front of the building from
Chesterfield Road, or dominate the building.

+ Native vegetation should be retained along Chesterfield Road, and effort should be
taken to retain groves of tuart trees and other native vegetation in areas that are not
required for buildings, paved areas or other facilities.

+ In the event that the dairy building is retained, effort should be taken to maintain the
visual connection between the house and the dairy. Plantings around the dairy should
be low level.

« Moist ground conditions should not be created at the base of limestone masonry walls.
Reticulated gardens or gardens requiring regular watering should not be planned within
1500mm of a limestone wall.

« Concrete slabs or other impervious ground surfaces should not be installed in positions
abutting masonry walls.

7.6.4 Furniture and furnishings

None of the original furniture or fittings associated with the past use of Chesterfield House remains in the

place. There may be furniture intrinsic to the significance of the place which is extant elsewhere.

Policy 26 Acquisition of furniture associated with the place

When the place is made secure and occupied, an attempt should be made to locate and,
if possible, acquire furniture associated with the place that is capable of demonstrating its
function as a hotel and residence. An inventory should be maintained of any furniture
that is located but not acquired.

Policy 27 Furniture not associated with the place

Controls should be placed on the acquisition of period furniture and objects that are not
associated with the place, so that there is no confusion in the relationship of these
objects and the place.
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Policy 28 _ Built-in furniture

In areas of exceptional or considerable significance, new furniture should not be built-in
or fixed to the fabric, except where this furniture is a reconstruction of furniture for which
there is a historical precedent.

Policy 29 New furniture and fittings

New furniture and fittings (including electrical fittings, tapware and door hardware) should
be of a contemporary design and legible as modern elements within the context of the
place, so as not to confuse the significance and associations of the place. Electrical
switches and outlets should be discresetly located.

Policy 30 Floor coverings

When the floors are restored, wall to wall carpets, vinyls or other coverings which
obscure the timber floors should not be installed except where there is evidence of
precedent during a significant era in the place's history. Rugs and runner carpets should
be used instead. Health requirements may necessitate some flexibility with regard to this
policy in kitchen areas.

Signage ™

Signage can clutter and confuse experience of places with cultural heritage significance. It is therefore

necessary to limit its use.

Policy 31 __Signage

Installation or the permanent display of commetcial, directional and regulatory signage on
the site is generally unacceptable. Exceptions may be made where the signage is for
temporary use and has no physical impact on the building fabric, the signage is required
to protect the fabric of the place or the physical well-being of visitors, or the signage
forms part of the interpretive strategy for the place. Any signage that is installed should
be low key and of a design that is sympathetic to the building.

Demolition
It is acknowledged that while the conservation of the dairy is desirable, it may not prove to be feasible
because of the location of the structure on a site that is development of required for the future industrial

development.

Policy 32 Recording of structures to be demolished

In the event that the dairy is to be demolished, the structure should first be recorded.
Archival quality photographs and architectural drawings should be prepared by qualified
persons, and the record lodged with the J.S.Battye Library of Western Australian History.

Archaeology

The property was settled in the 1850s and has been occupied almost continuously from that date. For

many years the place served as a hotel, and it is likely that the site contains deposits of refuse dating

from the mid 19" century that would be of archaeological interest. Other evidence that has been noted

and which would tend to indicate that the place has considerable archaeological potential is as follows:

o It is known that there were at least two wells on the property, one near the house (to the rear)
and one at the north-east extremity of the property, opposite Hymus House. Wells frequently

contain concentrated deposits of artefacts dating from the time when the well was excavated.
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. It is known that the house had a cellar, accessed from outside near the north-east corner, but
that this cellar was filled in by the Ward family.

. Scatters of ceramic sherds and glass fragments are found in the vicinity of the house, on the
road verge opposite Woodbine, and near the Mulberry tree and well site opposite Hymus House.

. It has been reported by a local resident that earlier this century old barrels were being found in
the swamp west of the house. Another local resident reported that a there used to be a
blacksmith's workshop west of the house, and that the carcasses of horses that died on the
place were buried under the floor slab of this workshop. This evidence has not been confirmed
with documentary evidence or by inspection of physical remains, but it is likely that such reports

have some substance.

In Australia, the discipline that is concerned with the excavation and study of sites relating to non-
indigenous occupation or exploration is referred to as historical archaeology. There are a number of
areas in which this discipline may provide otherwise inaccessible information about a place and its past
uses. A study of an historical archaeological site may, for example:

. complement and illustrate existing documentation relating to a place, highlighting any biases or

inaccuracies that may have occurred in this documentation;

. contribute factual information that is missing from existing documentation (refer to section 4.4),
. provide insight into the realities of domestic life by bringing to light remains of household objects;
. provide technical information relating to the manner in which things were constructed, arranged

or operated; and,

. assist in identifying previously unexplored issues of historical interest.%5

It is a common misconception that a site with archaeological potential should be excavated simply
because it is there. The following commentary on this issue has been taken from Historical

Archaeoloqical Site: Investigation and Conservation Guidelines, a handbook written for the Department
of Planning and Heritage Council of New South Wales:

"Archaeological sites are a non-renewable resource. They can only be dug once. Like
other environmental resources, they area not to be squandered by a single generation
but managed for the future. Archaeological techniques of the 21st century will
outdistance those of the 20th, just as our own analytical methods are more effective than
those of the 18th century in the recovery of data.

The option not to excavate should be a primary consideration for any site that is subject

to development. Alternative methods of construction which would leave significant

remains undisturbed are preferable since, once excavated, the archaeological resource

is destroyed." %
Some sites of archaeological potential will probably fall outside of the designated conservation area, and
development on sites adjacent to the conservation area may disturb or destroy some deposits. Where
an archaeological site has been identified and impending development is likely to destroy the remains in

the area, it will be desirable to undertake a rescue excavation of the site concerned.

Birmingham, J. & Walker, M., Historical Archaeological Site: Investigation and Conservation Guidelines , N.S.W. Department of
Planning and Heritage Council of N.S.W., 1993, pp.1&2.

ibid., p.30.
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Policy 33 Identification of archaeologica! sites

Before proceeding with development on the property, an investigation of the ground
surface should be made by an historical archaeologist to determine the location of any
archaeological sites and the potential significance of these sites.

Policy 34 Rescue excavation of threatened sites

Potentially significant archaeological sites identified on the property should be excavated
if it is certain that the realisation of planned development will cause the loss of significant
remains through unavoidable action.

In the event that conservation works to the house require the disturbance of an area with
archaeological potential, for example the sub-floor area, then an excavation of the
affected area should be undertaken first.

Policy 35 Excavation of sites not under threat

Sites that are not under threat should not be excavated unless a strong case in scientific

and academic terms can be made to justify the immediate excavation of the site in

question. The custodian should seek the advice of an impartial peer who is able to

review the merits of the case for excavation, prior to granting approval for such an action.
Policy 36 Requirements for undertaking excavations

The following requirements should be met in undertaking an archaeological excavation:

+ the practitioners involved in this project should have the necessary qualifications and
experience, or be supervised by a person with this expertise;

« the project should be thoroughly researched in terms of historical information and
comparable sites; and,

+ the project should be adequately resourced. Allowance should be made for sufficient
human resources to carry out the work within the given time constraints, financial
resources to pay for the exercise, facilities for the sorting and archiving of recovered
materials, and means for compiling and publishing a report on the findings.
It is possible that disturbance of the ground when carrying out site works will reveal remains relating to
this early occupation. ‘

Policy 37 Discovery of archaeological materials in the course of works

In the event that remains of a building, or substantial quantities of artifacts such as
glassware, ceramics, bones, or metalwork, are uncovered on the site during the course
of new building works, further disturbance the area concerned should cease immediately
and not resume until such time as an archaeological investigation of the remains has
been carried out.

OTHER ISSUES

Interpretation

It would be appropriate to give some consideration to interpreting the significance of the place so that its
heritage values are understood and accessible to the public. The extant cultural fabric is the primary
source for interpretation, and for this reason the conservation of the place should be expertly undertaken.
Besides conserving the extant fabric, however, it would be appropriate to introduce textual and
photographic information that could assist the public in gaining an appreciation of the place's
significance. This type of information is commonly presented as displays of photographs or artifacts,
plaques, brochures, or guided tours.
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The future use of the place will determine the type and extent of interpretive aids that would be
appropriate. Plans for industrial development of the region have limited the degree to which the place
will be accessible to the public in future. It is possible that the house will be accessible to members of
the public visiting adjacent industry by appointment. The likelihood of the place becoming a tourist

attraction in its own right is remote and incompatible with the proposed use of the surrounding land.

The place' present inclusion on the East Rockingham Heritage Trail is a means whereby the public is

able to enjoy the place, although in a less interactive fashion.

Policy 38 _Interpretation

Interpretation should form an integral part of the program to conserve the place, and
should involve the introduction of textual and photographic material that allows persons
visiting the place to appreciate the cultural heritage significance of the place. The degree
to which the place is interpreted should be appropriate for the level of public access that
will be permitted.

The design and placement of interpretive material should be determined with the
involvement of the architect supervising the conservation of the place, and should not
dominate or intrude upon the significant fabric.

Update of Records Relating to the Place

The depth of research into the history and development of Chesterfield House undertaken in the process
of compiling this conservation plan has been unprecedented, and has uncovered inadequacies in some
of the existing documentation. It is known that organisations dealing with heritage places have on their
files older and inadequate documentation relating to the place, and it is in the public's interest to see this

information updated.

Policy 39 Updating of records relating to the place

Up-to-date information regarding the known history and condition of the place should be
provided to the various heritage organisations that maintain records of the place,
including the Australian Heritage Commission, Heritage Council of Western Australia,
and the National Trust of Australia (W.A.).

From time to time new evidence will come to light that will afford different interpretations of the place, its
significance and the way it should be managed. Circumstances relating to the custody, management
and conservation of the place area also likely to change over time, making some aspects of this
conservation plan inaccurate or obsolete. For this reason the periodic updating of the conservation plan

will be required.

Policy 40 Review of the Conservation Plan

A review of the Conservation Plan should take place one decade from the date of its
being adopted and at regular intervals thereafter to take into account any changed
circumstances that may have a bearing on the significance attributed to the place or the
policies guiding its conservation. Any new information that comes to light should be
noted in the rear of this conservation plan for inclusion in the review.
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The following table provides an outline strategy for the implementation of the policies presented in the

previous section.

Policy #

Responsibility

Time Program

Action Required

1

Landcorp

Shortterm

Landcorp to agree to retain the place, so that the
work necessary for conservation may proceed.

2

Landcorp
&
City of Rockingham

N/A

The option of relocating the buildings to another site
should not be considered a satisfactory solution.

Landcorp
&
City of Rockingham

Whenever the
development of
adjacent land is
proposed

Landcorp should ensure that consultants involved in
planning industrial developments in the vicinity of
Chesterfield House make use of the opportunities
provided by this building's presence to enhance the
character of the development. The City of
Rockingham's planning officers should evaluate
development proposals in the light of this
conservation plan, and offer whatever assistance
may be required in order to achieve a desirable
outcome.

Landcorp
&

Practitioners involved in
conservation works

Relevant at all
times

The Statement of Significance should be used as a
primary reference whenever assessing the merits of
proposals that will have an affect on the building
fabric. It should be the goal of any conservation
works to ensure that the significance of the place is
maintained or enhanced, not diminished.

Landcorp
&

City of Rockingham

Shortterm

Endorsement of this conservation plan by Landcorp,
the City of Rockingham, and any future custodial
organisation should be seen as a vital step towards
achieving the place's conservation.

The City of Rockingham, as the commissioner of
this report, should ensure that Landcorp and any
future custodian of Chesterfield House are furnished
with copies of this report, and that local institutions
concerned with the district's heritage are supplied
with a copy for public reference.

Landcorp and any future
custodian in conjunction
with practitioners involved
in the conservation works

Relevant at all
times

Besides the Statement of Significance, the Burra
Chartershould be a key reference in determining
what is the most appropriate manner in which to

approach conservation works.

Landcorp and any future
custodian

Relevant at all
times

The custodian should recognise that persons with
specialist skills will need to be involved in directing
conservation works and preparing interpretive
material. For conservation of the building fabric, an
architect with relevant and credible experience in
heritage buildings of this type should be involved.

A landscape architect may be involved in laying out
the gardens of adjacent industries and the conserv-
ation area, particularly if the dairy is to be integrated
into a landscaped garden. The involvement of a
graphic artist may be required for the preparation of
interpretive material. A directory of consultants with
experience in different areas of conservation work
may be obtained from the Heritage Council of W.A.

City of Rockingham

Shortterm

A copy of the conservation plan should be submitted
to the Heritage Council of Western Australia with a
completed Heritage Referral Form.
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Policy # | Responsibility Time Program | Action Required
9 Landcorp and any future When proposing | Provide the Heritage Council of W.A. with docu-
custodian in conjunction to undertake mentation of proposed works. The type of
with practitioners involved work that will documentation required is outlined in the Heritage
in the conservation works physically affect | Council's Development Referral Guidelines.
the place
10 Landcorp and any future When proposing | It is a requirement that any new building works
custodian in conjunction to undertake comply with the current regulations. The respon-
with practitioners involved work that will sibility for determining which regulations are to be
in the conservation works involve alteration | acted upon will generally rest with the architect
of the building documenting the works.
fabric
11 City of Rockingham Shortterm A copy of this report, or a summary of its findings,
should be forwarded to the agencies involved in the
planning of the East Rockingham Industrial Park.

12 Landcorp Shortterm Architectural documentation for urgent works should

be prepared by a practitioner with recognised
experience in the field of heritage work, and the
necessary permissions obtained from the local
council and HCWA prior to commencing work.

13 City of Rockingham Whenever the Planning officers of the City of Rockingham should
developmentof | make a detailed assessment of any development
adjacent land is | proposal that is likely to impact on Chesterfield
proposed House, and make every effort to arrive a satisfactory

solution.

14 Landcorp Shortterm The preferred options for a conservation area, as

& shown in Figure 8.1, should for the basis of

City of Rockingham discussion between Landcorp and City of
Rockingham. In determining a conservation area,
arrangements should be made for its custody,
whether this involves the transfer of the area in
question to the City of Rockingham or another
custodial agency, or involves a commitment from
Landcorp to undertake the conservation of the place
within a reasonable time frame.

15 Landcorp Whenever the Refer to the implementation of Policies 3 & 13.

& development of
City of Rockingham adjacent land is
proposed

16 Landcorp Shortterm If it is likely that the place will not be developed for

another 5 years, then expressions of interest should

be sought for the lease of the place. By making the

surrounding land available for agricultural or pastoral
use as well, it may be possible to provide a reason-

able lease package.

17 Landcorp N/A Endorsement of this policy provides a goal towards

& which conservation works may be directed.
City of Rockingham
18-25 Landcorp and any future Medium to long | The treatment appropriate for the relative

custodian in conjunction
with practitioners involved
in the conservation works

term

significance of the different components of the
place, including the different zones of the house,
should guide any decisions regarding the future
development and use of the place.

It would be appropriate to engage an architect for
the conservation of the historic structures on the
site, and these policies would form part of the brief
to this task.

An arboriculturalist should be involved in conserving
established trees on the site.
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Policy # | Responsibility Time Program | Action Required

26 Landcorp or any other Medium to long | The local historical society may be invited to assist
custodian of the place term in attempting to locate furniture or artefacts

associated with the place.

27-30 Landcorp or any other Mediumto long | It is preferable to furnish the place with contemp-
custodian of the place term orary furniture and fittings rather than period pieces

{or reproductions) which could be confused as being
original and part of the significant fabric. This
approach would also remove the likelihood of the
interiors being conjecturally reconstructed.

it would be appropriate to engage the services of an
architect or interior designer when considering this
matter.

31 Landcorp or any other Mediumto long | Any future tenants should be made aware that
custodian of the place term sighage is to be low key and competently designed.

32 City of Rockingham In the event that | The City of Rockingham should ensure that a

& the dairy is to be | recording is made of this structure before issuing a
Landcorp demolished licence for demolition. The recording should be
coodinated by an architect with the relevant
experience in this type of work.
See implementation for Policy 7.
33-34 Landcorp When develop- | An investigation of the ground surface should be
& ment of adjacent | undertaken by an historical archaeologist prior to
; i land is proposed | approval being granted for development on Lots 1
City of Rockingham ‘ and 2 Chesterfield Road, and Cockburn Sound
Location 220.
Students from the Department of Archaeology at
UWA may be willing to undertake this work at a very
reasonable fee, but allowance should be made for
the findings of the investigation to be written up by a
qualified member of staff or post-graduate student.

35 Landcorp Long term The Department of Archaeology may wish to

become involved in this work. Refer to the above
note regarding the employment of a qualified
archaeologist to supervise and report on the
findings.

36 Landcorp When archaeo- | Apply to situations covered by Policies 33 - 35.

logical work is
proposed.

37 Landcorp (or others that When site works | Contractors engaged to carry out any work on the
may be granted custody of | are being under- | site that will involve major disturbance of the ground
the site in question) taken should be briefed on this matter and the procedures

recommended.

38 Custodian (or any future Once conserv- Architect with relevant experience in heritage work
custodian of the place) ation of the to be involved in interpretation.

place is under- | Thare may be scope for the involvement of a
way graphic artist.

39 City of Rockingham Short to medium | Forward copies of the relevant information to the

term agencies identified.

40 Landcorp or other current Long term The conservation plan should be reviewed by an

custodian of the place

(by 2009 A.D.)

architect with relevant experience in heritage work of
this nature. Liaise with the Heritage Council of
Western Australia to obtain details of suitable
practitioners.
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é——— DAIRY building not located within
the recommended conservation area.

within the recommended conservation
area. This would protect the approach
to Chesterfield House, and the trees that

flank this roadway.

90 and 100 years old, and in good
health. Requires dead wood removal
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10.0 APPENDIX

10.1 Copies of title deeds relating to the place

10.2 Newpaper articles relating to Chesterfield House

10.3  Sketch plans of Chesterfield House and the dairy

10.4 Architectural drawings of the place from the City of Rockingham archives

10.5 East Rockingham Industrial Park: IP-14 Structure Plan (Updated 1998)
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10.1 Copies of title deeds relating to the place
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which may be required for making or keeping in repsir any roads, bridges, canals, towing-paths, or other works of
public convenience and utility. And wo do hercby save and reserve to us, our heirs and suceessors, all mines of gold,
silver, and other precious metals, in or under the said Land, with full liborty at all times to searoh and dig for, and

-onxry away the same; and for that purpose to entor upon the soid Lands, or any port thoreof.

.

Iy QRAftness whereof We have caused our frusty and well-beloved (2 iZim Bl vvenod S (44{,‘ ‘,07 )
Glovernor and Commandor-in-Chiof of our said Colony, to affix to these Prosonts the Public Seal of our said Colony.

7 b\ Sealed this Zyyﬂ(/ day of /ﬁw/m@
N . :

one thousand eight hundred and N v D)
in the prasencs of the Execulive Cotincil.

I s
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1793

EC 1793 0000 *
e

e A 11111

14 L4 - . X
%Iﬁﬂﬁﬂ, BY ’I;HE GRACE or GOD, or ree UNITED KINGDOM or GREAT BRITAIN anp IRELAND, QUEEN, DEFENDER or Tz
TFAYTIL, &o., &0, &0, 'TO ALL to whom theso Prosents shall como, Greoting, KNOW YE that Wo, of Qur espocial Graco, cortain knowledge and mere motion,
bave given and granted, and WE do by these Presents, for Us, our heirs and succeasors, in consideration of Yiverrty. P‘rruzdv' =

~ ——— - N e Sterling paid to tho satisfaction of Our Governor of Our Culeny of
Western Austealia, GIVE AND GRANT unto // ames Berbert o~ e T
of ~6!lt£"‘t ford~ e ~ in Our snid Colony (paﬂ/'/n.nu e
ALL that Tract or Parcel of Land situate and being in the &d eMbrevsrs Aovure A ~—— T - === District
in our said Colony, containing 6.7;.?:// acLed o — e moro or less, AND marked and distinguished
in the Mops sud Books of the Survey Office of Qur said Colony as Goclitests @orencds Location.Y © /80" — AND BOUNDED on tho

West 5:/ @ Youllto e Bﬁjm’z‘/l‘ca/é/lml;o o oY orttoMeal &ornng z*( .éu/z’ﬂuwb $Drenel, @,)}},,c_ 7‘/

o 6/7 ArcdD @z&[l;w;u t’x{zuz{»;;y- é’m/ /t//ré/lau;u, ‘/L;l[l{l_> A'u_é/},,u‘(,; g“zt\'/))';u/ /K'/O
éluzm.,.l (> //u'él‘.\f? @ Zm(/pdu‘c) 255 [ﬂu-‘z/(-‘agéé(u/rd /ozi(/ ."h’c") lrchy  oits Wie> ol /{‘z/ crres

gﬂd/ l‘uw. ‘UA:”“."//‘WL,G/MHLU '- 8> Wi g(ld/ 4{5/ O n){—du/.“(')dl;(’_z b’f [(227;;/, I(;,?'d/ «éﬁau;d /,;,4/ Al .
Is

o /'20 Citels orooltas Xorif &/ & wedd buces tﬁﬁ/[uhlcqt.é’/lzu:‘za Qles ﬂl’méu,yu é.;m/}/' eeecs d¢.s
. / y

Uuneaboulo | tueq vureucn Fo prceed vy bror ant> o dgreared s /’m/ al covry Loney Y Mz > (o,
. 3

éﬁml:;ﬁ) L__—L(""j M — N

Together with olt Profits, Commodities, Hereditaments, and Appurt whatsoever thereunto belonging, or in anywise appertaining. TO HAVE AND
TO HOLD the euid Tract or Parcal of Land, and all end singular the Promiscs heroby granted, with their Appurtcnances, unto the said  d/22/2000 ==
A erbert iy — -

heirs and pesigns, for ever ; be or they yielding and paying for the samo to Us, our heirs and succeasors, one pepper-corn of yearly rent on the Twenty-fitth day of
March in each year, or to soon thercafter as th same shall bo lawfully demonded, PROVIDED, NEVERTHELESS, that it shall ot all times bo lawful for Us,

_ our heira and successors, or for any person or persons acting in that behslf by Our or their nuthority, to resume ond enter upon posscssion of any part of the said

1

Lands which it may at any time by Us, our heirs or , be d
of public utility or convenience, and such Lands so resamed to hold to Us, our heirs and successors, as of our or their former estate; .without makin g to the said

y to resume for making roads, canals, bridges towing-paths, or other works

heirs and assigns, any compensstion in respect thereof; so, novertheless, that the Lands vo to be resumed shall not exceed one-twenticth part in the wholo of the
Lands aforcsaid, and that no such resumption be made of any Lands upon which any buildings may have been crected, or which may be in usc as gardens, or other-
wise, for tha maro convenient occupation of any such buildings ; and provided, also, that it shall be lawful at all times for Us, our heirs and suceessors, or for any
person or persona acting in that behalf by our or their anthority, to cut and take away any such indigenous timber, and to carry away, search and dig for any stoncs
or other materials, which may be required for making or keeping in repair any roads, bridges, canals, towing-paths, or other works of public convenience and utility.
And we do hereby save and reserve to Us, Qur heire and successors, all mines of gold, silver, and other precious metals, in or under the said Land, with full liberty
st all times to search and dig for, and carry away the same; and for that purposc,to enter upon the said Lands or any part thereof,

~IN WITNESS whercof Wo have caused our trugty and well-beloved JﬂﬁtL,' Wﬁ/b/'ul() l’.‘gdlt(/l/d/u é{‘dg;uw

Governor and Commander-in-Chief of our said Colony, to affix to theso Presents the Public Scal of our said Colony.

Sealed this 1{1-{1///“ e day af{}:ﬂu s,
7/
one thousand cight hundred and s/t ta pleocit >
in the presence of the Bzecutive Counctl,

’7%@7’74/’ v 7 S ozt
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REGISTER BOOK
VOL. FOL.

1549 228

Translex BB20162 WESTERN
Rpplication BR201G3

* AUSTRALIA

“ai i CERTIFICATE OF TITLE

1521 257
UNDER THE "TRANSFER OF LAND ACT, 1693 AS ARMENDED

| certily thac the person described in the Firsc Schedule harata s the registerad propriotar of the undarmentioned estate in
the undermentioned land subjoct o the essements and encumbranees shown in the Socond Schadule hereto.

bated 22nd November, 1979 REGISTRAR OF Tla LES

ESTATE AND LRND REFERRED TQ

FOL.

]
L

VYOL.

TRy

Estat: in fee simple in Cockburn Bound Location 741 and portion of Cockburn Sound Iocation
L3U tuyeriiel belhg Lot £ tha auijaci ol pragean Sidue, gelineared and colcurea Jraern ok
cthe map in the Thizd Schaodule hereto.

PIRST SCHEDULE (continued overleaf)

-checterfieldInves i b-&—Dovalopment-Corptyhtdi—of22-Houne—Stre W“’
SECOND SCHEDULE (continued overlovaf)
NIL

Lo LD st

REGISTRAR OF TLES

THIRD SCHEDULE

CHESTERFIELD ROAD L7
- = ""po1.37
N FT 330 7
]
2 N
3 o
T390 m S
rPra2 & 41262 ha ~
y2
SCALE ¥ J00
P & 20193
PT 130

NOTE: RULING THROUGH AND SEALING WITH THE OF FICE SEAL INDICATES THAT AN ENTRY NO LONGER HAS EFFECT.
ENTRIES NOT RULED THROUGH MAY BE AFFECTED BY SUNSEQUFNT FNDORSITMENTS

- Y19/ T? 4G6M-B/2880

NOIFHIH NOILVYDHILON ANY HO 3AVOIdIA¥3D STHL OL ONIAAV YO ONIYALTY LSNIVIV 03INCILNAVYI ¥V SNOSHId
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REGISTER BOOK
VOL. FOL.

1549 227

Transier BB20161) WESTERN ). AUSTRALIA
Mpplication BB20)64

‘s’ e’ CERTIFICATE OF TITLE

1521 2517
UNDER THE "TRANSFER OF LAND ACT, 1893 AS AMENDED

ol
~N B ! cereify chat the porsan described i the Firse Schadule hercto is the registored proprlecor of the undermentioned estate in
N G Uiv undermentioned tand subject 1o the casomants and encumbrances shown in the Socond Schedula horrta.

o g <

= O v

[Xp Dated 22pa November, 1979 REGISTRAR OF TITLES

e

—_—

3 .

B0 ESTNTE AND LAND RETERFED TO

-9

~ Eatate in lee simple in portion of sach of Cotkburn Sound Lorationa 130 and 220 ahd baing
kA il b owie suMJELh wi wiayrwll BT2YY, Geilimdlog aid Columibd glwwil Wi s nap Al s Thisa
_ gchedule hereko,

¥

]

£ FLEST SCHEDULE (continued overleaf)

Lleve Halldston Hadgell .of 262.Boaufort-fheeat, Parth,.Company Han&gors s

SECOND ECHEDULE (continued ovarleaf)

NIL

REGISTRAR OF TITLES

THIRD SCHEDULE

ROAD
362-73
PT 230
1 |
a'l
. 5
Pr2z0 1a 8:2502na |
o
£T 131 l
SO L4l I
[]
& 2592
CHESTERFIELD ROAD

NOTE' RULING THROUGH AND S ALING WITH YHE DFFICE SEAL INDICATLS THAT AN ENTRY NO LONGER HAS EFFFC I
ENTRIES MOT RULED THHOLIGH MAY Bl AFFECTED 1Y SUBSEQUIENT ENIORSEMENTS

- FAMA/t3/17. 45 . /288N

NOIHIK NOILVYIISILON ANV HO FAVINALLY3D SIHML O4L ©NIQAY YO 2NIYILIV LSNIVIY AINOCILNVYD 3YY SNOSHIS
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REGISTER BOOK

Applicacion B420166 WESTERN AUSTRALIA voL. FOL.
Volume 1521 Folio 178 * 1649 230
UNDER THE "TRANSFER OF LAND ACT, 1893" AS AMENDED
é 1 certify that sha person deseribed in tha First Schedulo hareto is the reglscorad propriotar of the undermondoned cstate in
the undarmentioncd land subjecc to tha aasoments and oneumbrances shown |a the Sccond Schadule hareto,

bated 22nd November, 1979 REGISTRAR OF ;HLES

ESTATE AND LAND REFERRED 1O

YOL.

Estate in fee simple in portion of Cockburn Sound Location 130, delineated and colouxed
Qresn v Lthe map in che Thicd Schoduic liseelo.

FIRST SCHEDULE (econtinued overxlaeaf)

Eleveo-Yetlaoton-Hastell-of-263-Beau fort. 8tzeot ,» Parth —Company- Managopd%..‘;ﬁ.\
SECOND ECHEDULE (continued overleaf)
NIL

v

REGISTRAR OF TITLES

THIRD SCHEDULE

e/

60/
(4]
D'A il ?l
\,:. [-4
2 3
57246
L8133
3
PT 220 PT130 ¢
¢ gass2ha |y
3 d
N =
&
4
M&E 2000 08..¢ *
" tﬂﬂﬂ.ﬂb} 204 06
i 777

NOTE: RULING THROUGH AND SFAlING WITH THE OFFICE SEAL INDICATES THAT AN ENTRY NO LONGER HAS EFFECT,
ENTRIES NOT RULED THROUGH MAY BE AFFECTED BY SLIBSEQUENT ENDORSEMFN S,

- TINON Y YT-adM S{2iG0

NOIYIH NOILYIIAILON ANY HO FLVIIHILN3D SIHL O ONICAY YO ONNILTIV ASNIVOV GINOCILNAVYD YV SNOSHID
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FOL.

VOL.

[ V)

REGISTER BOOK

. » VoL. FOL
. WESTEIAN AUSTRALIA '
Volure 1549 Folio 229 ;
orine o 2082 370

Application 6261094

INCLUDES CLOSED ROAD

ot GERTIFICATE OF TITLE

UNDER THE "TAANSFER OF LAND ACT, 1B93'"' AS AMENDED

[ cortify What the porsen doscribed in (he First Schedule herelo ig lhe fo
d alstored propriator &l Wy undennantionsd ostale In (h
undermantionod lpid pubjaet 1o lhe oeagmenty and oncumbrances shawna In {ho Second Schedule heralo, e

G Jack

REQISTAAHR OF TITLES

Dated 20th August, 193G

ESTATE AND LAND REFERRED TOQ

Estuate in fee simple in portion of Cockburn Sound Location 220, delineated on the map in
the Third Schedule hereto.

FIRSY SCHEOULE (continued averleaf)
Industrial Londs Development Authority of 12 Saint George's Terrace, Perth.

SECOND SCHEDULE (continued overleaf)

1. TRANSFER A383497, Grants, pursuant to the Petroleum
P;pilines ?ct 1969 as ame?ded to Ampol E;gloratign Led.,
shell Pevelopment (Australia) Pty. Ltd., Texaco Overseas
PetraTeum Co. and California Asiatic 011 Lo., the right to
enter upon the portion of the within land marked ‘A’ on the
map in the margin for the purpose of laying, constructing
and maintoining pipelines and other apparatus and for ether
purposes as set out in the said Transfer. Registered
15.4.71 at 11.18 o'c.

2. TRANSFER C4542R8. Grants, pursuant te Alumina Refiner
(Pinjarra) Agreement Act 1976 to Alcoa of Australia éﬂégfl ©ow
Ltd., the right to enter upon the portion of the within and

marked ‘B' on the map in the margin for the purpese of
laying, constructing and maintaining pipalines and other
apparatus and for other purposes as set out in the said
Tramsfer. Registered 16.11.82 at 2.57 o'c.

.4

3. NOTIFICATION €436143. Pursuant ta Section 20(5) of the Petraleum Pipelines Act of °
1960 the nrantees nf Easement A383497 are now Shell Development (Australia) Py, Ltd.,
Australasian 0il Exploration Ltd,, Texaco 0il Deve [upiignt Compary afd Lnevrop Asiatic
Ltd.  Todged 30.8.90 at 16:00 hrs.

THIRD SCHEDULE L_m Nt N

545.67

PT 220
44 8193 ha

.... e @

I
wu
o
=
<
w

fCKIGHAN 10T
p
1492 s ¢vaes

MLL__“R
‘:.(mT é-: A

& ~1
~

-
—
in
-
<

4

.
]

|
i

SCALE
Ta.

£z

721
2]

NOIT. ENTIES MAY BE AFFECTED QY SUBBEQUENT CNDONBLMENIS,

NOIE3H NOILVIIJILON ANY ¥O 3LVOILHID SIHL 04 ODNIQGV BO DNIMILIV ISNIVOVY CINOILAVD 3IWY SNOSYIJ
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10.2 Newpaper articles relating to Chesterfield House

. KEVIN PALASSIS ARCHITECTS

chesterfield house conservation plan







6192228587 K-Z[g/’fﬁf . 706
SRIFFIN PTY LTD TEL No.6192228587 4 Nov 96 8: 0. ;

Historic
house
may be
doomed

ONE of the lasl rem-
nants of WA's stage-
coach era -~ Chester-~
field FHouge' in East
Rockihghium —- {8 onh the
hrink of destruction de-
spite belug owned by,
the State Government,

'The former colonial
home I§ believed Lo have
been built In the 18808
as the first couching
stop on the Fremantle
to Bunbuty coast road.

Now, it stands with a
section of its roof burnt
oul.

1t was being restored
by Perth businessman
Cleve Hassell in the ear-
ly 1980s when it was
acquired by the Indus-
trlal Lands Develop-
ment Authorlly, whose
functions are carried out,
by the WA Land Auth-
ority.

The¢ WALA acquired
Chesterficld for its land
which was earmmarked
for heavy Industrial use.

This was reveuled (n
Parllamenl by Heritage
Minister Richard Lewis
In response Lo questions |
from Soulh Perth MLA
Philllp Pendal. ‘

Mr Lewls said he knew |
of the residence's role in
WA's colonial past.

The property was
leased to the Rocking-
ham Youth Care Trust
until 4 was gutted by
Aire in December 1002,

It was fenced off until
its future was decided.

Mr Pendal sald he was -
amazed Chesterfield
House was tiot heritage-
listed and that the State
had dragged the chain in
protecting onc of WA's
maost significant colonial
residences.
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New evidence

of the Inn’s
Heritage value

A LOCAL rosident has
uncerthed more informa-
tion which she believes
proves Chesterfield House
was not rebuilt on a differ-
1 ent site following a ﬁm in
1011,

Wendy Dnrram a
membes of the Rogk-
ingham Historical Society,
has opposcd a plah.to
demolish the old. bullding
amd also 3 widely. sccepted
theory that the original
steucture built in the 1850%
was on g different site, with
parts of it salvaged -to
construct the existing
buikting.

She referred Lhe building

for listing with the Heritage -

Covncil of Western Austra-
lia but it has refused to offer
fis I)rowcﬁon.

{eritage Couneil conser-
vation officer, 1an Kelly
said avcording o (he infor-
tnation they had received
it hud (nsufticient historicat
significance 1o warrant
listing on the rogister.

However, he said if infor-

mation came to light which -

proved othurwise they
would reconsider its listing.

In the meatime he sug-
pestod the buildmg could be
protucted by hslmg in the
munseipal tegister,

Mes Darrant suid she was
now pushing for the Rock-
inghum City Council to ligt
Chesterfield on s register
which could vffer the samce

By Tanyaf-
Hendriks

Of more protection than the
WA bod

Y.
She # also scarching
throngh state archives at the
Battyve Library andbas

Apoken 10 long-lefp Rock-

inghiam residents gnd their

“relatives to. learn wmore

about the ambiguous his-
tory of the former Ing, oncs
known ze the Rockingbam
Avms which was officially
licenced in 1856 by Jemes
Herbext,

Mrs Durrant said she had
found in the archives an old
survey map from 1842/
1843, that had béen resur
veyed in 1857, which
marked the Chesterfield
Inn Hock as being lot 71,
the same sita as the existing
building

Shc was also contacted
by several people who
remembered the old house
including Pat Chester (nec
Hyrmug), wbo was bom in
1911 und bad lived across
the road from Chesterfield
House.

Mrs Chester now lives in
Fremantle and héd bega
very upset after teadipg
abowt the passible demoli-
tion of Chesterfield House.
She confirmed the building
had been burnt and partly
damaged but she dadul

believe it had chnuged
position,

Mes Durrgat said the
most convincing evidence
resullod from an evaluation
of the property in 19{8,

“The partners Brogan
end’ Matthews bonyght
Chesterfield Tnn in 1911
and in 1918 when Thomas
Manthews died an evalua-
tion of the. propesty was
performed,” she gald. © -

“It was described o his
will as being in ‘a wom
mo{‘ nct & lkely condi-
tion of z mew o pa.ma!ly

new bullding.” -

Mrs Dumnt said thcre
was 0o proof thet Chesters
ﬁegd' House was not the -
otigioal boilfing and she
was amazed that it was
being considered to knock
down what wus passibly
one of Rockmgharn' otdest
buildings.

She has seot 3 copy of
her information to all the
organisations involved with
the old house, incl the
owmng body \

and asked” it to provi
ptolection to the building
which - was belny slowly -
destroyed by vandats,

The possible demotition
of Chesterfisld House was
raed several months ago
whea LandCorp requested
and reccived pcrmnssxon
{rum the Rockingham City
Couvacil o demotish Il,
subject v several
conditions,
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: rfield’s

future clouded

CHESTERFIELD House will
not be listed on the WA
Heritage Council register, but
its future is s4ill uncettain,

Last month the Rockingham Citx
Cauncil %ave LandCorp, whic!

owns the tand Chesterficld House
is on, the go shead to domolish it.

The building had a reprieve when
it was proposed it would be listed
with the Heritage Cowneil,

This would have left its future
opén (o' negotiation between the
eritage Council and Lapdcorp.

But Heritage Councll-

conservation officer lan Kelly said
the register committee felf that
Chesterfield House was unlikely
to mocet the criteria for listing, on
cvidence presented to it,

Mr Kelly said that unless furthor
information altered the
committec's understanding of the

By LISA EDWARDS

[ R e T
house, it could not see why it

shotld be placed on the register.

" The committee based its

decisions on the .aesthotic,
historic, scientific and social value
of a building, as welf 83 it
condition, authenticity and
integrity. .

Chegtetficld House, in East

Rockingham, was known as.

Racking Arms wheg it was
built in 1859 by James Horber,

Ifs licence was held by a number

Jof people before its name was

changed by John and Mary
Chester In 1896, to stop it being
mfused‘ with. the Rockingham

Tt passed.cout of the Chester
family early in (hc 19005 and

‘twico has been partially bumed

down, once in 1910 and again in
1992, .

In recent years the house was
used as & private residence and
then Mon hostel, but was not
rapalred after the 1992 firc.

. Mr Kelly subd there was a

distinctlon ” betwoen  placing the
housc on the State register and on
a municipal inventory.

This gave local governnient an
avenue to protect places of

‘significance through town

plannhing schemes,

ND.996  PEI1R

.006 P.04

A
(4

Mr Kelly suggested Rockingham -

Qity Councli and LandCorp
eonsider Chesterfield House for

" the municipal inventory, -

He said it should Jook at it ip the
light of its relevance to other local
buildimgs. . .

Landgorp and’ Rockingham City
Counci! fave figt .discussed the
house's future singe the Heritage
Colteil made ts decision.
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LOCAL residents have expressed oufrage at the
the Eust Rookingham ea

Querles havo bewn relgod
# 10 the soouracy of ovj.
dence which sugaests (he
orlginal 1850 bu ding was
rebuilt o0 & diffaran! gito
afler & fire in 1912,

Rockinghsm resldont
Wondy Durran who tnveg.
Ugated the matter biss fopnd
tho formor bush fun wpe
listed under (he ‘National
“Trust of Austratin in 1970,

» Although this body offers

no Jegidative protestion
does reficot the commup.
fy's view of tho bullaing es
bcirv;g of heritage valys,
Mis Durratit has ginge
rofarred the bullding (o bs
consldered for listing with

B.y Tanya
Hendriks

the Horitage Council of
Western Australia. If fis
recotiimondation for pres-
orvatlon is endotesd by
Heritage Minfstar, demoll.
tion could not take placs
without the council's
complince,” -
Chemtorfiold  House
which i locatod in ths 1P1d
heavy industrin] areg, camp
Into the asouight tectntly
after the ockingham City
Counll approved {n prin.
ciple lts demolitlon follpw.

possible demolition of

rly seftlemen buflding, Chesterfleld Hougs,

ing correspondongs from
LandCorp whe own the
iend.

L«ndC‘m&u still noge-
tisting ag losurance clalm
after (he house was dam-
aged In a fire in lats 1992,

Tho councll buged fts
doolsion on s lolter frota the
Rookingham District H(s-
toricel Socfety whick
related the reculis of &
borltage ropor on the Fas(
Rockihgham Seitlomant by
oonsultants J.C. Kean,

In the report it suggests
the original two-slorey
siruuture bull( in the 1850%
war bumt down and the
eslsting elructure way bul
100 et from ghe orig-
toal slt6, The consulianis
regardod Chestortleld Ing
1 bolug of 1t dlgnificance
than sty of the gihers due
w tho facs that 1t had been
rebull a1 & feter dats thao
the Dy and Rayf coltages,

* Mora P6

(01 e |
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Chesterfield

¢ From P1
However, Mrx Durrent
has questioned this infor-
malion and bolloves theo
buﬁéﬂngdnwas ga I‘M.‘a only
! meged wnd wak
g:buﬁt on the eame foun-
datlons, :
“1 hipvo atudied books,

Aibrery olippings and other

{nformation byt T tisve not

“fkn ahy terature which

suggests the Inn was ever
rebullt on & different elip,”
M Durraat sald,

Yl don’ balleve it hus
boen \ooked fnto suffi-
ciently (0 warrent & dacis
glon to demollsh {t."

Howevar, Myx Durrant
srid even 1€ the hotiss hed

botn cobuill i 1912 It was |

stll = valuable herltage
bullding.

“Both Smirk rnd Slgan
cotrgos which arc within
the K winang Town Council
uroy huve byen prescrved
and turned Into valvable

tourist nusets, why can't the -

Rookingham Council -do
the samo?

“The other buildings o9
the Hast Inghusm eet-
tomest including Bell Cot-
tage and Hymus House sro
{n docay und lave not oo
rogletered by the State
horjiagé budy,

‘I bolleve ths whole
seitiornsnt ghould be pro-
sorved and this {s possible
with the avallablity of
herhage funding from the
State Covernment upon
application by the local

- guthorlty"

Rookinghem Digtriot
Historicat Soclay gmeidem
Mary Davics sald hot lettor
to the counell had beon &
persong] overview und had
not contalned & re¢ommen-
datlon \o denolith Chestec-
fleld Houss or otherwise,

She sald without a great
deat of repobreh [t was
difficult to verify whether
the house wuy oh ils oriy-
Inn} glte, howsvet vho
krow that {t had btea
renovated twios during hor
fifetimo. . )

Mrs Davics sald ghe had
been advocsting for years
¢ho creutlon of & historfesl
viilage which would bo scf
ssido specifically 1o contain
& range of the differont
types of houges built within
Rookingham since the carly
sotifomonts, Thie K)mpoul
Included “the possibility of
moving one of the old
cottages and oxsuiples of
olhier Tocal housing dogigns,
similar to the development
a4 Stosn's Resorve {n
Kwinanu,

OQQC'Z




CHESTERFIELD House
"Husy Rockingham could
we BAVed trom domolttion.

The house wes targeted for
demalition hut could be
saved, depending on negatia-
tions belweon LandCorp,
which owns the fand the
house 1% on, 504 the Herlrge
Councl] of WA,

Rockinghumn City Council
administiation madneer 1ohn
Creen sald the counett b
gprectt (o the demodlion b
“Jeet to eentain pond ,

i,

chiding it uoi hewoneya howt

npe listing

T T
RN IR LU L RARS

T By LIGA EDWARDS

endation (o the full Hotltage
Couneil.

But o finul decizion would
not be announced for fwo oy
thige weeke, :

LandCuorp project officer
Orphinny Sunderiand said the

uoncy was waiting for the,

'

J SHRITHN PTY, LD, oo MONITORING PERTH MED|A

But lock) resident Wendy
Durant, who studies local hig-
Wiry,. 881G there were no te-
sgsan owhith wuld gancidy
where the original hovess wus
situntod and o ancestors
could romember 1 H o oway
moved, '

> Mrs Durant wints to sso the
hgugc prestivod becauss of
Jte-sigmlicent histarleal pas
“H had a stoong associabiv.,.

Herituge Council's declslon, \ with well kaown fipures, loc.

but did not know whal woul
nappen from (hets,
P said Bt would be & matler

';{y’mg@!ser!i:?n.
o Madene Gt o

Pul LanaCorp. has Sine S dgaaenng Ciesterfiold

cavored thi kowss
(stered witt:

I8 bolng cofsidemeel o laoh

in the Reritape Courials ren™

ister,
teritage Covpaleay WA

roject oflicor GesngMechul
EH!A e m‘.z:tf'\tmtww\
sl whother Ciic. o Qatk
Houso was sienificent @ueuth poemodeo infliedd
(0 be included (n the repps s - apgu it susg
ro Stunclo

A Heritsge Counclt eommit-
dircuss the suy-
tion (oday and meke a recorm-  witk nof on it

1o woul

2 ppr 1y
Lo Nodows Dgh bh
Trust in Qciotes ~ QR0 jaiet 1t GFoen o

ol

et

in ftx own.
oi b {1tz whole
s settloment

LATIER

oot anly,

OAren » PV
My Suncterdart b(ti—r/u‘vi!
(Rom adk seemad £q mal
wpaakt OShov bocauss
_ Mouelvagiidy &
nds shaharan HmdY

Mo cteensarp—tol domulish
by @ r¢-
Gt JIOuke
* Ezsk Gk
24

rglnal

Wighi e, 3

bul & renovatels \eadon that
original s,

B AE L e e e

sl and etae pionecss, such as
John Forest (WA'R Titst pro-
micr) who honcymooned
fherc in 1870 with hig bride
Margarot Hammersiey,” Mrs
IR TRt

“Broi a social aspent, | fec
ihat 1t would b s gread Jows to
the l;.::iuautlon of Tulurd gen:
SRy

faem £

d
sraliuns. Weo have 1o save our

- past as well as our flture.”

iINsuional Trugt cruei execu-
aov vitiwer Tom Fuago i
the tryst had regelved at Jenst
wix calls rogardipg the house,

mir Perrigo &aI0 there wag an
abligadon for the trust (0 bu
consyliod over (he house's ju-
There was probably no heed
fior it dhopadiinn iCothar on.
Hohs won st iend. '

© e it o e
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CHESTERFIELD House is
~planned for demolition o make
way for the Compact Steel mill,

Rockingham City Council

agreed to (he plan at ity neeting

last month, o
But before it goes the counci
has asked {0t a complete got of

mns and
Iding.

ruaterial and anefacts that-may
be wsed far resteration work on
other historical buildings in the
musteipality. :

A check will be madc thmug\h
the National Trust 0 ersue the
builshng {5 not listed for classi-
fication.

The current buslding, which

. WaS d'amagéd by fire in 1992, is

photographe of. the..
Ti will ‘glso 'sa!.vagc ~Bi:ildi.ng :

. be erccted on & sl

HERTTHEE COUMCIL OF WA, -

bt 328575605

. TEL No.09-3282365
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within the Bast. Rockinghan
heavy industry pask. .. .
- The snove (o have the buikding
demndlished . was inytigated by
Landeorp, which has elso ap-
plied to have Chestarficld Rogd
closed and ing ted in s
industrial purk ‘holdings.. .
*ok ok T

PLANS by Opus 1o build o
{eloopmenunications - statlon G
Anniversary Park huve bech re-
jected by Rockingham City
Couggal, '
The counci] has ofd Opdus it
veould prefer the gse diation (o
withigt the..
council's depot in Crocker
Street, ¢ b

\

| Cyu/

ho)
[att

|7 (982

P ¢ s i
The couacil -said the pm‘jecl
would not compliment its plans
for the city cenlre dovelopment
if it were erccted on the
Anniversary Park site.
* % %

UP (o $7500, has been allo-
cated to appoint an atﬁ{};itcct !cd>
prepare preluntnary outhines n
designs for the dyal wse come
mupnty. facilitics project, 1s part
of the Warnbro Conimuaity
High Schiool development,

* Tk ok

BUCKINGHAM'S Stonema-
sonry has won the contract ©
buitd limestone walls at the Bast
Rogkingham cemetery,
i contrect is worth $23,400.

Landscape Design will recive

a4

et

O, 222

Mo .01z .11

8152

$1200 to supervise the work. |
* k' &k -

ROCKINGHAM'S garden of
the year contest and tdy street
competition will continuc.

The competition will be held
laler this yeat.

* k K

DOG litter bags are being con-
sidefed . by Rockingham City
Couneil, . - 7

Al its fast meeling the council
decided (o ask s munager for
technical services, Juan
Pradera, to Investigate the mat-
tor. ]

He i3 to presant a report o the
next- mesting of the Finance,
Works, Parks and Recreation
Comumniitee. '
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10.3 Sketch plans of Chesterfield House and the dairy

- KEVIN PALASSIS ARCHITECTS -

chesterfield house conservation plan
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10.4 Architectural drawings of the place from the City of Rockingham archives
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10.5 East Rockingham Industrial Park: IP-14 Structure Plan (Updated 1998)
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